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Glossary of Terms 

The following is a glossary of certain terms used in this Listing Statement. Terms and 
abbreviations used in this Listing Statement and also appearing in the documents attached as 
schedules to the Listing Statement (including the financial statements) are defined separately 
and the terms and abbreviations defined below are not used therein, except where otherwise 
indicated.  Words below importing the singular, where the context requires, include the plural 
and vice versa, and words importing any gender include all genders. All dollar amounts herein 
are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

“Arrangement Agreement” means the arrangement agreement including the Arrangement 
dated June 9, 2014 among Noor, TL Investments and TLM International. 

“Arrangement” means the statutory plan of arrangement attached to the Arrangement 
Agreement. 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) including the regulations 
thereunder, as amended. 

“Board” means the board of directors of TLM International. 

“CEO” means an individual who acted as our chief executive officer, or acted in a similar 
capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year. 

“CFO” means an individual who acted as our chief financial officer, or acted in a similar 
capacity, for any part of the most recently completed financial year. 

“Common Shares” means the common shares without par value of TLM International. 
 

“Court” means the Supreme Court of British Columbia. 

“Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

“Final Order” means the final order of the Court granted on July 23, 2014 approving the 

Arrangement. 

“Licensed Producer” means a producer of medical marijuana who has been granted a 

Producer’s License under the MMPR. 

“Listing Date” means the date on which our Common Shares are listed for trading on the 

Exchange. 

“Listing Statement” means this Exchange Form 2A Listing Statement of True Leaf Medicine 
International.  

“Minister” means the Minister of Health. 

“MMAR” means Marihuana Medical Access Regulations. 

“MMPR” means Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations.  
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“Noor” means Noor Energy Corporation, a British Columbia company and a reporting issuer in 
Alberta and British Columbia. 

“Plan of Arrangement” means the Arrangement. 

“Producer’s License” means a license granted under the MMPR to produce and distribute 
medical marijuana. 

“Related Person” means an “Insider”, which has the meaning set forth in the Securities Act 
(British Columbia) being:  

(a) a director or senior officer of the company that is an insider or subsidiary of the 
issuer;  

(b) a director or senior officer of the issuer; 

(c) a person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting share carrying 
more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of the 
issuer; or  

(d) the issuer itself if it holds any of its own securities. 

“TL Investments” means True Leaf Investments Corp., a private British Columbia company and 
wholly owned subsidiary of TLM International. 

“TL Medicine” means True Leaf Medicine Inc., a private British Columbia company and wholly-
owned subsidiary of TL Investments. 

“TLM International” means True Leaf Medicine International Ltd. 

“we”, “us”, “our” or “the Company” means TLM International, our wholly owned subsidiary, TL 
Investments and its wholly-owned subsidiary, TL Medicine. 

Forward-Looking Statements 

The information provided in this Listing Statement, including information incorporated by 
reference, may contain “forward-looking statements” about us. In addition, we may make or 
approve certain statements in future filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities, in 
press releases, or in oral or written presentations that are not statements of historical fact and 
may also constitute forward-looking statements. All statements, other than statements of 
historical fact, made by us that address activities, events or developments that we expect or 
anticipate will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements, including, but not 
limited to, statements preceded by, followed by or that include words such as “may”, “will”, 
“would”, “could”, “should”, “believes”, “estimates”, “projects”, “potential”, “expects”, “plans”, 
“intends”, “anticipates”, “targeted”, “continues”, “forecasts”, “designed”, “goal”, or the negative of 
those words or other similar or comparable words. Forward-looking statements may relate to 
future financial conditions, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business 
developments. These statements speak only as of the date they are made and are based on 
information currently available and on our then current expectations and assumptions 
concerning future events, which are subject to a number of known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, performance or achievements to 
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be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking 
statements, including, but not limited to, risks and uncertainties related to:  

 the availability of financing opportunities, risks associated with economic conditions, 
dependence on management and conflicts of interest; 

 market competition and agricultural advances of competitive products; 

 the timing and availability of the Company’s products, its ability to expand production 
space, and acceptance of its products by the market; 

 the progress and the successful and timely completion of the various stages of the 
licensing process; 

 the progress and success of the Company’s research and development program; 

 the ability to successfully market, sell, and distribute the products, and to expand the 
Company’s customer base; and 

 other risks described in this Listing Statement and described from  time to time in our 
documents filed with Canadian securities regulatory authorities  

Consequently, all forward-looking statements made in this Listing Statement and our other 
documents are qualified by such cautionary statements and there can be no assurance that the 
anticipated results or developments will actually be realized or, even if realized, that they will 
have the expected consequences or effects. The cautionary statements contained or referred to 
in this section should be considered in connection with any subsequent written or oral forward-
looking statements that we and/or persons acting on our behalf may issue. We undertake no 
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, other than as required under securities legislation. See 
“Section 17 – Risk Factors”.  

Market and Industry Data 

This Listing Statement includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third 
party sources, including industry publications. We believe that its industry data is accurate and 
that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy 
or completeness of this date. Third party sources generally state that the information contained 
therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there is no assurance as to 
the accuracy or completeness of included information. Although the data is believed to be 
reliable, we have not independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to 
in this Listing Statement or ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by 
such sources.  

2. Corporate Structure 

We were incorporated pursuant to the BCBCA under the name “True Leaf Medicine 
International Ltd.” on June 9, 2014, under incorporation number BC1004810. Our head office is 
located at Suite 1128 – 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 1H2, and 
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our registered and records office is located at Suite 1820 - 925 West Georgia Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 3L2. 

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, TL Investments, was incorporated pursuant to the BCBCA on 
March 26, 2014 under incorporation number BC0997664. 

TLI’s wholly-owned subsidiary, TL Medicine, was incorporated pursuant to the BCBCA on July 
4, 2013 under incorporation number BC0974480. 

On February 5, 2015, TL Investments became a wholly owned subsidiary of TLM International 
pursuant to the Arrangement. TLM International was incorporated pursuant to the Arrangement 
Agreement, as a wholly owned subsidiary of a reporting issuer, Noor. Upon completion of the 
Arrangement, the shareholders of TLI became the shareholders of TLM International through a 
reverse merger, and TL Investments became a wholly owned subsidiary of TLM International. 

Throughout this Listing Statement, we describe our business and financial position as well as 
the business and financial position of TL Investments and TL Medicine. Audited financial 
statements of TL Investments and TL Medicine are included in this Listing Statement at 
Schedule “A” and “B”, respectively.  Both sets of financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars and expressed in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  When 
we refer to “us”, “we” and “our” throughout this Listing Statement, we are referring to the 
consolidated operations of TLM International, TL Investments and TL Medicine. 

THE ARRANGEMENT 

On June 9, 2014, we entered into the Arrangement Agreement with Noor and TL Investments 
for the Arrangement. On July 23, 2014, the Court granted the Final Order approving the 
Arrangement in accordance with Part 9 of the BCBCA.  Pursuant to the terms of the 
Arrangement, the following steps were completed: 

1. TL Investments acquired all of the 10,000 issued and outstanding TLM International 
Common Shares (the “Purchase Shares”) from Noor for the purchase price of $20,000.   

2. TL Investments and TLM International exchanged securities on a 1:1 basis, such that 
38,616,666 common shares of TL Investments were exchanged by their shareholders for the 
same number of Common Shares of TLM International.   

3. TLM International issued 355,000 Common Shares to Noor (the “Distribution Shares”) 
and in exchange, Noor issued 5,000 common shares to TLM International.   

4. The Distribution Shares were then distributed to Noor's shareholders on a pro-rated 
basis according to their shareholdings.  

5. The Purchase Shares were then cancelled.   
 
Noor's controlling shareholder subsequently cancelled 155,000 Distribution Shares to which he 
was entitled in step 4 above. The balance of the controlling shareholder's Distribution Shares is 
subject to the following resale restrictions. 
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Vesting Date Proportion of Vested Shares 

On the Listing Date 1/10 of the Stock  

6 months after the Listing Date 1/6 of the remainder of the Stock 

12 months after the Listing Date 1/5 of the remainder of the Stock 

18 months after the Listing Date 1/4 of the remainder of the Stock 

24 months after the Listing Date 1/3 of the remainder of the Stock 

30 months after the Listing Date 1/2 of the remainder of the Stock 

36 months after the Listing Date The remainder of the Stock 

The following diagrams set out the corporate structure of the entities prior to and after 
completion of the Arrangement: 
 

PRE-ARRANGEMENT 
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POST-ARRANGEMENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Fundamental Change 

We are not requalifying for a listing following a fundamental change or proposing an acquisition, 
amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement.  

Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada 

TLM International, TL Investments and TL Medicine were incorporated in a Canadian 
jurisdiction. 

3. General Development of the Business  
 
Our business plan is to become an emerging producer and distributor of medical marijuana.  TL 

Medicine has applied to Health Canada for a medical marijuana production and distribution 

license under Canada’s Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations (“MMPR”), which became 

law as of April 1, 2014.  We were an early applicant for such a license with an original 

submission sent in July 2013.  We have not been granted any license under the MMPR.  The 

granting of a license pursuant to MMPR is discretionary and there is no certainty that we will 

receive any such license.   
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TLM International 

 

TL Investments 

100% 

 

TL Medicine 

100% 
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We received a ‘Ready to Build’ approval for our first licensing application in January 2014; 
however, issues arose with the facility location and local zoning.  In March 2014 we secured a 
second location, and on April 8, 2014, we submitted a second licensing application.  

Our management team believes that a key to our success will be our marketing plan.  See 
Marketing Plan below. We have already completed the initial design of our packaging, as shown 
in the photo below. 

 
 

Significant Acquisitions and Dispositions 

On May 7, 2014, our wholly-owned subsidiary, TL Investments, acquired TL Medicine by way of 
a share exchange, where 2,500,000 common shares in True Leaf Medicine were exchanged for 
25,000,000 common shares in TL Investments. The result of this exchange was that TL 
Investments acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding share capital of TL Medicine. 

The effect of this acquisition is that TLM International will obtain any licensing rights for medical 
marijuana production and distribution for which TL Medicine applied in July of 2013.  

Material Trends, Commitments, Events and Uncertainties 

N/A 

4. Narrative Description of the Business  

Legislative Changes 

In 2001, Canada implemented a government-run program for medical marijuana access which 
permitted approved persons to either grow the product or seek supply from Health Canada.  
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Since inception, the medical marijuana industry has been a relatively fragmented group of users 
growing product for personal use or third party producers allowed to grow for a maximum of two 
patients under the Marihuana Medical Access Regulations (“MMAR”).  According to a press 
release issued by Health Canada on March 21, 2014, when the MMAR program was introduced 
in 2001, the number of people authorized to possess marijuana for medical purposes stood at 
less than 100 and over the years that number has increased to close to 40,000.  The rapid 
expansion under MMAR had significant unintended consequences on public health, safety and 
security.  Due in part to the growth in demand and the intent to provide reasonable access to 
Canadians requiring dried marijuana for medical purposes with the support of a healthcare 
practitioner, while protecting public safety, Health Canada issued new regulations under the 
MMPR in June 2013.  The MMPR replaced government supply and home-grown medical 
marijuana existing under the MMAR with highly secure and regulated commercial operations. 

On March 21, 2014, the Federal Court of Canada issued an order with respect to an application 
brought by four individuals who hold Authorizations to Possess under the MMAR. The Federal 
Court ordered, in part, that: 

1. The Applicants who, as of March 21, 2014, hold a valid Authorization to Possess under 
the MMAR, are exempt from the repeal of the MMAR and any other operation of the 
MMPR which are inconsistent with the operation of the MMAR, to the extent that such 
an Authorization to Possess remains valid until such time as a decision in this case is 
rendered and subject to the terms in paragraph 2; 

2. The terms of the exemption for the Applicants are in accordance with the terms of the 
valid Authorization to Possess as of March 21, 2014, despite the expiry date stated on 
the Authorization to Possess, except that the maximum quantity of dried marijuana 
authorized for possession will be the lesser of that which is specified in their license, or 
150 grams;  

3. The Applicants who held, as of September 30, 2013, or were issued afterward a valid 
Personal-Use Production License under the MMAR, or a Designated-Person Production 
License under the MMAR, are exempt from the repeal of the MMAR and any other 
operation of the MMPR which is inconsistent with the operation of the MMAR, to the 
extent that the Designated-Person Production License or Personal-Use Production 
License held by the Applicant remains valid until such time as a decision in this case is 
decided at trial and subject to the terms in paragraph 4; and 

4. The terms of the exemption for an Applicant who held, as of September 30, 2013, or 
was issued afterward a valid Personal-Use Production License under the MMAR are in 
accordance with the terms of their license, despite the expiry date stated on that 
license. 

The effect of this interlocutory injunction is that Health Canada will treat the following 
Authorizations to Possess, Personal-Use Production Licenses, and Designated-Person 
Production Licenses as extending beyond March 31, 2014 until a decision on the issue is made 
by the court.  As per the Federal Court injunction, the following criteria must be met: 

 individuals must have held a valid Authorization to Possess under the MMAR on March 
21, 2014; and 
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 individuals must have held a valid Personal-Use Production License or Designated-
Person production License under the MMAR on, or after, September 30, 2013, where 
there is also an associated valid Authorization to Possess as of March 21, 2014.  

Although it may temporarily decrease the number of initial clients under the new MMPR regime, 
the court order will not affect the implementation of the MMPR and the granting of new 
Production Licenses.  Individuals with a medical need who do not fall within the scope of the 
order and who have the support of a licensed healthcare provider may register with a Licensed 
Producer under the MMPR.  

The interlocutory injunction continues to be in force pending the outcome of the trial, which is 
set to proceed on February 23, 2015, for a period of three (3) weeks until March 13, 2015, in the 
Federal Court Trial Division.  It will take place before the Honorable Mr. Justice Phelan. 

The Goal 

We have an option to lease a 0.61 hectare location with a 16,000 square foot building in the 
Village of Lumby, British Columbia for our operations, with room to expand production.  We 
project a 12-month period without revenue for Health Canada reviews, “Ready to Build” 
approval, building renovations, license approval and cultivation.  Pending Health Canada 
approval, we expect to be producing and selling product under an MMPR license by April 2015. 

The following table sets forth what we have achieved to date: 

Business Objective Completion Date 

Initiated first stage of marketing strategy May 2014 

Launched initial placeholder website May 2014 

Signed memorandum of understanding with technical institution for assistance 

with Application QA Program, Lab testing application and set-up plan 
May 2014 

Secured initial chair of Medical Advisory Board June 2014 

Nationwide press release announcing TL Medicine's high profile chairman June 2014 

Launched new website June 2014 

Our long business objectives are: 

 Achieve commercial distribution of medical marijuana by April 2015 (see Short Term 
Objectives below for the estimated costs) 

 Increase our patient customer base annually through our marketing campaign, we intend 
to allocate 10% of our sales to marketing 

 As demand for our product increases, we would seek to expand our production capacity 
by adding growing rooms through the addition of mezzanine floors and increasing the 
facility footprint at an estimated cost of $4.68 million, financed from internal or external 
sources of capital over a six year period 

 Ongoing R&D at an initial cost of 10% of our sales. 
 

 Our short term business objectives for the next 12 months are: 

 Obtain a producer license 

 Develop brand awareness 
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 Pre-enroll 500 patients for our product 

 Cultivate and grow our product 

 Complete our first harvest and begin sales 
 

The following table describes how we intend to meet those objectives over the next 12 months. 

What we must do and how we will do it 

Target completion date or, if not 

known, number of months to 

complete 

Our cost to 

complete 

($) 

Receive completed Quality Assurance Program and Lab 

set up plan from technical institution / Commence 

process for strain procurement, cultivation R&D and pre-

clinical trials 

In progress, completion target of 

March 1,2015 
 

Packaging design, marketing collateral, photography and 

video applications 
Upon “Ready to Build” approval  100,000 

Launch authority website and Medical Community 

marketing strategy 
Upon “Ready to Build” approval 

200,000- 

540,000 

Receive “Ready to Build’ approval from Health Canada 
Estimated approval date:   

Spring 2015 
  

Begin building renovations 
Upon “Ready to Build” approval 

and subsequent financing 
1,600,000 

Complete Province-wide road show campaign to 

promote our brand with medical doctors 
Upon “Ready to Build” approval 10,000 

Hire pharmaceutical sales rep / Initiate marketing to 

medical community 

Rep will be hired upon licence 

approval.  

5,000 per month 

plus profit share 

Hire Master Grower Upon “Ready to Build” approval 
5,000 per month 

plus profit share 

Finalize strain procurement and pre-clinical trials Upon Licence approval  

Complete final inspection for license approval Fall 2015    

Receive Licensed Producer approval Fall 2015    

Commence cultivation plan Fall 2015    

Pre-enroll 500 patients for medicine Fall 2015    

Complete first harvest and generate initial revenue Late 2015   
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Total Funds Available, Breakdown of Funds and Principal Purposes For Which Funds Will Be 

Used. 

We currently have $100,000 in working capital.  We intend to raise $2,500,000 in additional 

funds once we have “Ready to Build” approval. 

Expenditure 

  

Current Working Capital  

($100,000) 

Close of Additional $2.5m 

Financing  

 

General and administrative 30,000 100,000 

Design of Building improvements 5,000 1,600,000 

Road Show 10,000 10,000 

Research and Development 10,000 50,000 

Packaging Design, marketing collateral, 
photography and video applications 

10,000 100,000 

Website development and medical community 
marketing 

10,000 540,000 

General Working Capital 25,000 586,000 

Total 100,000 2,500,000 

Additional Capital 

We recognize we need to raise more capital, but we want to ensure we do so in stages, so as to 
minimize dilution to the value of the Common Shares held by our existing shareholders.  Our goal 
is that each of the private placement financings will take place at a higher price per share than the 
one preceding. 

Even though we plan to raise capital through equity or debt financing, we believe that the latter 
may not be a viable alternative for funding our operations as they do not have sufficient assets 
to secure any such debt financing. We anticipate that any additional funding will be in the form 
of equity financing from the sale of our Common Shares. However, we do not have any 
financing arranged and cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to raise sufficient 
funds from the sale of Common Shares to fund operations or planned business development 
activities. In the absence of such financing, we will not be able to implement most of our 
business goals.   

Principal Product 

As attitudes and legal treatment on the use of marijuana for medical purposes evolve, we have 
begun to see a paradigm shift on the issue.  Significant medical breakthroughs for the treatment 
of cancer, Crohn’s disease, multiple sclerosis, glaucoma, chronic pain, arthritis, diabetes and 
many other possible ailments in the near future could be realized as efficacy is proven under a 
regulated environment, and published scientific studies support the following benefits of medical 
marijuana: 

 pain relief: studies have shown benefits for sufferers of chronic or neuropathic 
pain, the latter of which is caused by damage to the nervous system; 
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 increases appetite: helps cancer and AIDS sufferers to eat, thereby increasing 
their ability to combat illness; decreases nausea: enables chemotherapy patients 
to be more receptive to treatment; and 

 relaxes muscles: in many cases medical marijuana relieves seizures, muscle 
twitching, tightness, tension or muscular pain, which improves the patient’s 
quality of life. 

Pending “Ready to Build” approval, building renovations, License approval and cultivation, we 
expect to be producing and selling product under an MMPR Production License by April 2015.  
We anticipate having two core revenue streams: 

1. Direct-to-consumer sales of True LeafTM medical marijuana via doctor’s prescriptions; 
and 

2. Laboratory testing services to MMPR suppliers (such testing is now mandated by 
Health Canada). 

Production 

Prior to License approval, we intend to contract for research and development (“R&D”) in order 
to isolate the appropriate strains of marijuana designed to address specific ailments or 
conditions.  We will source these strains or plant material from approved Canadian or imported 
sources.  

A key part of our production plan is to develop strains of marijuana that are designed to treat 
particular ailments, so that our product is tailored to treat a patient’s needs as specifically and 
effectively as possible.  Different strains of medical marijuana will have a different effect on the 
patient, and we believe that it is extremely important that each patient should be matched with 
an appropriate and effective product for their needs.   

Testing 

Key to our strategy and business model is the implementation of a full-scale, in-house 
laboratory which will provide us with multiple benefits: 

 The ability to perform fast and accurate testing for all microbial and chemical 
contaminants required under MMPR; 

 Accurate measuring of THC and CBD levels of all plant material during the R&D 
and production process; and 

 Provide cash flow from third party testing services to other Licensed Producers or 
R&D facilities. 

Operations 

In the event that our application to become a licensed producer of medical marijuana (a 
“Licensed Producer”) is approved, we have an option to lease a 0.61 hectare location with a 
16,000 square foot building located in the Village of Lumby, British Columbia on which to carry 
out our operations. The building complies with building and fire codes and poses no risk to 
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public health, safety or security.  The location has room to expand production to meet up to $72 
million in annual sales.   

The proposed 16,000 square foot building contains 40’ ceilings, creating the opportunity for a 
total of three interior floors, and 48,000 square feet of useable space.  We also have a right of 
first refusal to lease an adjacent building with 30,000 square feet, 40’ ceilings, and the 
opportunity for 90,000 square feet of usable space.  Under the MMPR, if a Licensed Producer 
wishes to expand to a second building at the same location, an amendment to the original 
application will need to be submitted to Health Canada for approval. 

 
Proposed Facility – Pre-Renovation 
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Site Map 
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In the initial building, approximately 625 square feet will be assigned for the lab area, which will 
be incorporated within a 2,940 square foot space allocated for the Vault, Curing and Packaging 
areas. The building is of metal frame construction with exterior metal sheeting and cement 
floors.  An estimated budget of $1,600,000 will be required for leasehold improvements to the 
building, installation of security requirements, testing lab and growing equipment. The safety 
and building requirements encompassed within the MMPR will be complied with subsequent to 
the renovations that we intend to undertake on the proposed building. 

Initial production will begin on the ground level with 8,000 square feet of growing area.  Growing 
areas will be divided into 544 square foot rooms, each containing 18 lights and the necessary 
irrigation, ventilation, cooling, CO2 and related equipment.  We have used an average of 1.5 lbs 
per light, per growing cycle as our average when making production calculations, with dirt as the 
growing medium and 6 grow cycles per year.  

Using the initial ground floor layout of 16,000 square feet of growing area, the facility will have a 
yearly production capacity of 734 kilograms.  Additional floors and more growing capacity can 
be added and financed from internal profits as demand increases and we secure more patients.  
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The MMPR sets out physical security requirements that are necessary to secure sites where 
Licensed Producers conduct activities with marijuana other than storage, and Health Canada’s 
Directive on Physical Security Requirements for Controlled Substances provides technical detail 
as to how to meet these security requirements.  We will take sophisticated security measures to 
ensure the physical security of the premises and staff and abide by the regulatory requirements.  

Such measures will include: 

 a chain link security fence around the perimeter of the property that will be no less than 
1.2 meters from the outside of the building with a remote operated central gate as the 
only entrance to the facility; 

 third-party 24-7 monitoring of the site and facility by an Underwriters Laboratories of 
Canada (ULC) certified security firm; 

 motion and fire detection for all interior rooms; 

 Access Control Readers for every room within the facility; 

 internally segregated restricted areas with separate access control; 

 a Level 8 (minimum) ULC certified Vault with its own security system located within 
internal restricted areas for inventory: 

 a Level 3 ULC approved safe for storage of test material within the lab; 

 all individuals working for the company will require a clean criminal record; and 

 all directors, officers and ‘Senior People in Charge’ (as defined in the MMPR) require 
enhanced security clearance approval from Health Canada. 

The building will have the following compartments: 

Description Security Level 

Growing Area of 12 x 544 sq. ft. rooms Restricted 

Controlled Substance Waste Storage Area Restricted 

Vault Area: Harvest Material (curing), Vault, Lab and Packaging Area Restricted and Secured 

Admin, Reception Area Restricted 

Staff Welfare Area Restricted 

Shipping Room Restricted and Secured 

Nutrient Storage and Water Treatment Room Restricted 

The primary specialized skill and knowledge requirement for success as a Licensed Producer of 
medicinal marijuana is with respect to cultivating the product.  Currently we currently have two 
full-time employees and nine marketing, finance and quality assurance consultants contracted 
as part of our team.  Once we receive funding and “Ready to Build” approval, a full-time quality 
assurance person and master grower will be secured to ensure the quality of the production 
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process and that the finished product meets company specifications before it is made available 
for sale.  

In order to begin production of medical marijuana, we will need to obtain starting materials – 
namely, seeds – from appropriate sources.  

The latest regulations outline only two approved sources of seed material as laid out in this text 
from Health Canada on May 12, 2014:  

There are two potential legal sources of material that can be used for cultivation of marihuana: 
1) Importation from a legal foreign source; 2) Marihuana plants or seeds obtained from a 
producer who holds a license under the MMPR.  Please indicate which source(s) you intend to 
use. 

All initial seed stock or ‘seedlings’ will be purchased from approved sources and verified by our 
quality control team.  

Marketing Plan 

Our Customers 

The main drivers in this market are medical cannabis users and physicians, both requiring legal, 
safe and standardized sources of product. Typical users will be patients from the previous 
MMAR program and new patients drawn to the market by the ease of possession and hope of a 
standardized and safe supply under the new MMPR regime. 

A 2011 Health Canada study found that there were 420,000 people over the age of 15 using 
cannabis for medicinal reasons.  A separate Canadian Addiction Survey found that 28% of all 
people in Canada who use cannabis use it for medicinal use.  Typical ailments treated were 
pain (53%), depression (22%), nausea (6%) and anxiety (5%). Demographics appear to be 
mostly male (66%) and around the age of 40.  However, a 2012 Canadian Community Health 
study states that 6.7% of Canadian adults between 45 and 64 used the drug in the last year and 
use in people over the age of 65 has quadrupled since 2002. 

The new MMPR prescription process has been labeled by some as ‘soft legalization’, given that 
only a signature and no medical verification is required.  Physicians will be looking for a safe, 
standardized and reliable supply of medicinal cannabis to satisfy patients who demand a 
medical cannabis prescription. 

Our marketing will be focused on aligning themselves with physicians and family doctors to 
become the trusted source of medicinal cannabis to the medical community. 

Reaching Our Customers 

Prior to receiving our producer license, we have set aside a considerable budget to both reach 
out to the medical community and educate the user market in order to build brand awareness 
and engagement. Key to this will be the execution of a comprehensive marketing strategy over 
the next 12 months with the goal of having 500 physician-supported patients pre-enrolled in the 
True Leaf distribution system. 
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Province-wide Road Show 

The province wide road show will include our key decision makers and medicinal cannabis 
experts engaging in a across province campaign designed to create brand awareness and 
engagement. The purpose is to understand the medical practitioners concerns, needs and 
questions when it comes to utilizing medical cannabis. 

Website (non-branded and corporate) 

We will create an “Authority” information-based website on the topic of medical cannabis.  The 
website will act as a “non-bias hub”, essentially a non-partisan source of information accessible 
to both users and medical practitioners. A targeted content strategy will be developed with an 
efficient web-based platform to educate potential patients and the medical community on the 
growing efficacy around the use of the whole plant. All the traffic generated from this website will 
be tracked and strategically redirected to the TL Medicine corporate website. 

Collaborative R&D 

We expect to engage and align ourselves with a reputable R&D testing facility in order to 
conduct pre-clinical trials, advocacy work and specific strain R&D. 

We will actively publish relevant scientific and industry data through social media streams and 
search marketing platforms as part of our ongoing marketing efforts.  

Retaining Customers 

We will treat customer service as a top priority and plan to retain knowledgeable customer 
support personnel to answer patient and doctor inquiries on a one-on-one basis.  This will be 
one of the keys to our brand promise and we expect it to differentiate us from our competitors. 

Licensed Producers are not allowed to advertise via traditional methods, but they can promote 
to physicians and family doctors.  We expect to build solid relationships from our early ‘grass 
roots’ marketing efforts and will leverage this to retain long-term support for our brand.   

This will be supported by continued engagement with the medical community through 
participation in educational seminars and sponsorship of regional True Leaf medicinal cannabis 
learning sessions. A comprehensive media relations program will continue to drive brand 
awareness and further engagement with the medical community.  

All of the above is considered sales and marketing expense and is supported by a 10% 
allocation of gross sales.  

Potential Market Demand 

There have been many estimates to the size of both the regulated ‘medical’ marijuana market 
and the ‘recreational’ market, which is currently classified as the ‘black market’.   

Medical Marijuana Market  

Reports in the media referencing discussions with Health Canada state that in 2013 there were 
38,000 authorized users of medical marijuana in Canada and approved production of 190,000 
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kilograms of medical marijuana in 2012.  A Health Canada Regulatory Impact Analysis 
statement predicts price levels of $8.80 per gram, which pushes the market size to over $1.65 
billion.  A separate 2011 Health Canada drug use study indicated there were over 420,000 
people over the age of 15 using marijuana for medical purposes outside of the MMAR program.  
This translates into a $2 billon market with prices at $8.80 per gram and a daily average usage 
of 1.5 grams and over $6.6 billon with the current maximum MMPR dosage of 150 grams per 
month. 

Recreational Market  

The size of the ‘black market’ for marijuana is obviously large and hard to quantify, but a report 
by the Fraser Institute in BC estimates the total marijuana market in British Columbia alone to 
be $7 billion.  The “blue sky” growth potential of the recreational market seems inevitable as 
polls in Canada (56%) and the United States (58%) continue to move toward favouring 
legalization.  

Competition 

Approved Licensed Producers 

Several successful applicants have been approved as Licensed Producers, some larger and 
more sophisticated and others appearing to be smaller operations still in the pre-production 
phase.  The majority have limited supply with shipping dates projected later this year.  Relative 
to the news and information that is available, the approved applicants appear to fall into the 
‘Larger Scale’ and ‘Smaller, Less Sophisticated’ categories. 

Larger Scale Approved Applicants.  These companies also appear to be taking a more 
‘pharmaceutical’ approach with proprietary, company-produced strains.  Some examples are: 

 Tweed Inc. The largest potential supplier appears to be Tweed out of Smith 
Falls, Ontario, a publicly-listed company on the Toronto Stock Exchange. 

 Canni-Med Ltd. Canni-Med was approved as the only supplier to Health Canada 
under the previous MMAR program.  They were in a good position to receive a 
license and were the first ones approved in Canada under the new MMPR. 

 Bedrocan Canada Inc. Bedrocan is currently the only company in the 
Netherlands authorized to grow medicinal marijuana for the Ministry of Health, 
Welfare and Sport.  They were granted approval to sell in Canada under the 
MMPR and apparently are exporting Holland-grown product to Canada for their 
initial supply. 

 Mettrum Inc. Mettrum was an earlier applicant, operating in an industrial setting 
in the Toronto area. 

Smaller, Less Sophisticated Approved Applicants.  These companies appear to be smaller in 
scale with a product offering more focused on ‘street strains’ and the recreational market.  Some 
examples are: 

 Canna-Farms Ltd. Family owned and operated, located in Maple Ridge, British 
Columbia, with patient registration closed until summer 2014.  
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 Delta-9 Biotech. Hoping to supply 27 varieties in May 2012 from an 80,000 
square-foot facility in Winnipeg. Similar to a number of other producers has a 
50% price reduction program for eligible clients on disability or low income. 

 In-the-Zone Produce Ltd. Self-described as originally a “Ma and Pa” style farm, 
in the Okanagan Valley of British Columbia, currently ramping up and expecting 
to be ready with product in late June 2014. 

 Med-Releaf Corp. Markham, Ontario-based producer, 55,000 square-foot plant, 
through exclusive partnership with Tikun Olam of Israel, a medical cannabis 
innovator, the company has access to treatment data for 7,000 international 
patients, ready to ship in June 2014. 

 The Peace Naturals Project Inc. Located in Stayner, Ontario, one of the early 
licensees, their website indicated on March 30, 2014 that only 4 of the 16 offered 
varieties were available – the rest were sold out. 

 Thunderbird Biomedical Inc. A Licensed Producer located on Vancouver 
Island, website is under development, estimating July sales. 

 Whistler Medical Marijuana Corp. An organic grower based in Whistler, British 
Columbia, according to their website on March 30, 2014, one strain was currently 
available, expecting to have 18 strains available in summer 2014. 

Applicants for Licenses 

Health Canada reports that over 850 companies have applied for Licensed Producer status and 
such applications are at various stages of review. According to a popular website 
(http://www.liftmj.com/2014/04/30/list-of-approved-lps-under-mmpr/), there are a number of 
prospective applicants similar in size to TL Medicine that are currently being reviewing by Health 
Canada, but are not yet approved. These could be potential competitors if they are all 
successful in receiving a Producer License: 

 Appollogreen 

 Aphria 

 AMMcan 

 Medi-Jean 

 MedAgri 

 MariCann 

 MedCan Solutions 

 Green Medical 

 CanMed 
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 Alchemy 

 Alternabis 

Cannabis Testing Companies 

 Experchem Laboratories Inc. is an Ontario-based company with a narcotic 
control license, approved by Health Canada to test Medical Marihuana. True 
Leaf™ will contract testing services to this company. 

Cultivation Companies 

There are also 8 companies approved for cultivation only. 

Health Canada currently stipulates that the possession of medical marijuana cannot be 
transferred, resulting in the virtual non-existence of labs that offer testing services. However, 
mandatory testing will be required as part of the new MMPR program, opening up a potentially 
huge market to companies offering these services. 

MMPR Requirements for License Applicants 

Under the MMPR, a business that wishes to commercially produce and/or distribute medical 
marijuana must obtain a license to operate as a Licensed Producer. In order to obtain such a 
license, the applicant must: 

 show that they are an adult who ordinarily resides in Canada, or a corporation that has 
its head office in Canada or operates a branch office in Canada and whose officers and 
directors are all adults;  

 designate one senior person in charge of overall management of the activities carried 
out by the Licensed Producer; 

 designate one responsible person in charge to work at the Licensed Producer’s site and 
have responsibility for supervising regulatory compliance of the Licensed Producer’s 
activities; 

 submit details around the identity of the person or company applying for the license as 
well as the location and contact information for each proposed production site and each 
building within the site if applicable; 

 submit the proposed activities to be conducted at each site, the purpose of the proposed 
activities, and the substance(s) in respect of which the activities are to be conducted; 

 submit a detailed description of the security measures at the proposed site; 

 submit a detailed description of the proposed record-keeping method; 

 submit the maximum quantity of dried marijuana to be produced under the license and 
the production period;  
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 submit the maximum quantity of dried marijuana to be sold or provided by the applicant 
under the license; 

 submit a report written by a quality assurance person establishing that the buildings, 
equipment and sanitation program to be used in the license activities complies with the 
MMPR’s Good Production Practices requirements; and 

 gain security clearance for the senior person in charge, the responsible person in 
charge, the individual licensee if the license is issued to an individual, and each officer 
and director of the corporation licensee if the license is issued to a corporation. 

Considering that our quality assurance report, operating and recordkeeping procedures have 
been reviewed and received an earlier Health Canada approval, we expect to receive a ‘Ready 
to Build’ approval of the new application by August 2014. Pending this approval and the 
execution of our business plan, we expect to be testing and producing product under an MMPR 
license by late 2014 or early 2015. 

Although we hope to receive a “Ready to Build” approval in August 2014, it is possible that 
Health Canada may reject our application for any number of reasons. Pursuant to paragraph 
26(1)(h) of the MMPR, a producer’s license must be refused by Health Canada where the 
license would likely create a risk to the public health, safety or security, including the risk of 
cannabis being diverted to an illicit market or use.  

Prior to submitting an application for a Producer’s License under the MMPR, the applicant must 
provide written notice to the local government, the local fire authority, and the local police force 
or the Royal Canadian Mounted Police in the area in which the production site is located.  

A Producer’s License is valid for the period indicated on that particular license, which is 
determined by the issuing Minister at the time of issuance, and must not be later than three 
years after the effective date of the license. Prior to the expiry date of a license the Licensee 
who wishes to renew their license must submit an application for renewal to Health Canada that 
contains the original of the license, and a declaration that all of the information shown on the 
license is correct and complete, subsequent to which the Minister must issue a renewed license 
subject to any of the grounds for refusal in s. 26.  

A Licensed Producer may engage in the following activities: 

 possessing, producing, selling, providing, shipping, delivering, transporting and 
destroying marijuana; 

 possessing and producing cannabis, other than marijuana, solely for the purpose of 
conducting in vitro testing that is necessary to determine the percentages of 
cannabinoids in dried marijuana;  

 selling, providing, shipping, delivering, transporting and destroying cannabis, other than 
marijuana, that was obtained or produced solely for the purpose of conducting the 
aforementioned in vitro testing; 

 shipping dried marijuana to a health care practitioner in the case referred to in 
subparagraph 108(1)(f)(iii) of the MMPR; 
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 importing marijuana in accordance with an import permit issued under s. 75 of the 
MMPR; and; 

 possessing and exporting marijuana in accordance with an export permit issued under s. 
83 of the MMPR. 

A Licensed Producer may sell or provide marijuana and cannabis that was obtained or 
produced solely for the purpose of conducting the aforementioned in vitro testing to: 

 another Licensed Producer; 

 a Licensed Dealer; 

 the Minister; or 

 a person to whom an exemption relating to the substance has been granted under s. 56 
of the CDSA. 

A Licensed Producer may sell or provide dried marijuana to: 

 a client of that Producer or an individual who is responsible for the client; 

 a hospital employee, if the purpose of their possession of the dried marijuana is in 
connection with their employment; or 

 a person to whom an exemption relating to the dried marijuana has been granted under 
s. 56 of the CDSA. 

The MMPR allows doctors or nurse practitioners to write a one-page prescription for up to a 
year’s supply of dried medical marijuana with a maximum shipment size of 150 grams per 
month. All approved Licensed Producers are listed on a Health Canada website for doctor 
referral. Patients send the original prescription to their preferred supplier, who then ships 
product directly to them or their doctor for pick-up. The MMPR essentially allows a free market, 
direct-to-consumer, mail-order distribution model with no retail sales permitted. 

Intellectual Property 

We do not have any nor have we applied for any intellectual property as of the date of this 
listing.  

Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties 

We do not know of any other trends, commitments, events or uncertainties that are expected to 
materially affect our business, financial condition or results of operations other than as disclosed 
in “Section 3, General Development of the Business” and “Section 17, Risk Factors” herein.  

Competitive Conditions and Position 

See above, and “Section 17, Risk Factors, Competition”. 
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5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  

Annual Information 

We were incorporated on June 9, 2014 and our first fiscal year end is March 31, 2015. The 
following table sets out certain financial information for our wholly-owned subsidiary, TL 
Investments, from the date of incorporation on March 26, 2014 to March 31, 2014. The audited 
financial statements for TL Investments for the period ended March 31, 2014 are included in this 
listing statement attached as Schedule “A”.  

The information provided in this section is qualified in its entirety by the financial 
statements attached as Schedule “A” to this Listing Statement. Reference should be 
made to those financial statements.  

 Period from Incorporation 
to  March 31, 2014 

 $ 

Total expenses 13,596 
    Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period 13,596 
  Loss per share, basic and diluted  (0.04) 
  Weighted average shares outstanding 350,000 
  Total Assets 1,404 

Total Liabilities 5,000 

The following table sets out certain financial information for TL Medicine, from the date of 
incorporation on July 4, 2013 to March 31, 2014. The audited financial statements for TL 
Medicine for the period ended March 31, 2014 are included in this listing statement attached as 
Schedule “B”.  

The information provided in this section is qualified in its entirety by the financial 
statements attached as Schedule “B” to this Listing Statement. Reference should be 
made to those financial statements.  

 Period from Incorporation 
to  March 31, 2014 

 $ 

Total expenses 77,217 
    Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period 77,217 
  Loss per share, basic and diluted  (202.14) 
  Weighted average shares outstanding 382 
  Total Assets 4,000 

Total Liabilities 81,205 

The following table sets out certain financial information for TL Investments, on a consolidated 
basis, which includes TL Medicine. The unaudited consolidated financial statements for TL 
Investments for the period ended September 30, 2014 are included in this listing statement 
attached as Schedule “E”.  
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The information provided in this section is qualified in its entirety by the financial 
statements attached as Schedule “E” to this Listing Statement. Reference should be 
made to those financial statements.  

 Period from Incorporation 
to  September 30, 2014 

 $ 

(Unaudited) 
Total expenses 482,324 
    Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period 1,360,664 
  Loss per share, basic and diluted  (0.09) 
  Weighted average shares outstanding 15,953,699 
  Total Assets 179,451 

Total Liabilities 182,261 

Dividends 

Dividends can be declared by our Board when deemed appropriate from time to time. To date, 
we have not declared any dividends on our Common Shares and it is unlikely that earnings will 
be available for the payment of dividends in the foreseeable future. We are in the start-up phase 
and we intend to retain our earnings, if any, to finance the development and growth of our 
business. The payment of dividends in the future will depend on our earnings and financial 
condition and such other factors as our Board may consider appropriate. 

Foreign GAAP  

Not applicable. 

6. Management’s Discussion and Analysis  

Attached to this Listing Statement, please find: 

 TL Investments Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the period ended March 31, 
2014, attached as Schedule “C”;  

 TL Medicine Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the period ended March 31, 
2014, attached as Schedule “D”; and 

 TL Investments Management Discussion and Analysis for the period ended September 
30, 2014, attached as Schedule “F”. 

7. Market for Securities  

In February 2015 our Common Shares commenced trading on the Exchange under the trading 
symbol “MJ”. 
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8. Consolidated Capitalization  

The following table summarizes our consolidated capitalization as of the date of this Listing 
Statement:  
 

Designation of Security Number of Shares Authorized 

Number of Shares  

Issued and Outstanding 

Common Shares Unlimited 37,956,663  

For further details about our issued securities, see “Section 10, Description of Sales”.  

9. Options to Purchase Securities  

As of the date of this Listing Statement, there no outstanding options to purchase Common 
Shares in our authorized capital.  

10. Description of the Securities 

Authorized Capital 

Common Shares.   

Our authorized capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares, of which 37,956,663 
are issued and outstanding as at the date of this Listing Statement.  Holders of our Common 
Shares are entitled to vote at all meetings of our common shareholders declared by our 
directors and, subject to the rights of holders of any shares ranking in priority to or on a parity 
with the Common Shares, to participate rateably in any distribution of our property or assets 
upon the liquidation, winding-up or other .   

Warrants 

Fifteen Cent Warrants: we currently have 275,664 fifteen cent warrants outstanding in our 
authorized capital.  These warrants entitle the holder to acquire one Common Share in the 
Company at a price of $0.15 per Common Share for a period of two years from the date of 
issuance. 

Twenty Cent Warrants: we currently have 5,866,666 twenty cent warrants outstanding in our 
authorized capital.  These warrants entitle the holder to acquire one Common Share in the 
Company at a price of $0.20 per Common Share for a period of two years from the date of 
issuance. 

Twenty-Five Cent Warrants: we currently have 1,519,997 twenty-five cent warrants outstanding 
in our authorized capital.  These warrants entitle the holder to acquire one Common Share in 
the Company at a price of $0.25 per Common Share for a period of two years from the date of 
issuance. 
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Options:   

We do not have any outstanding options, although an option plan may be adopted at a later 
date.  

Modification of Terms 

Subject to the BCBCA, our directors may, by ordinary resolution, create special rights or 
restrictions for and attach those special rights or restrictions to, or vary or delete any special 
rights or restrictions attached to, the shares of any class or series of shares, whether or not any 
or all of those shares have been issued, and alter our Notice of Articles and Articles accordingly. 

Other Attributes 

We may, if authorized by our directors, purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any of our 
issued and outstanding shares at such price and upon such terms as determined by resolutions 
of our directors. 

Prior Sales  

We have not sold any securities since our inception. We completed the Arrangement with 
Pubco, a company who is a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta, and TL 
Investments. Pursuant to the Arrangement the corporate structure of our business was 
reorganized: TL Investments became our wholly-owned subsidiary, and the former shareholders 
of TL Investments exchanged all of their shareholdings therein for our Common Shares. 

The table below sets out the prior sales of common shares in the authorized capital of TL 
Investments, from their date of incorporation on March 26, 2014 to the date of this Listing 
Statement, and including the common shares issued under the Arrangement which closed on 
February 5, 2015: 

Date of issuance 
Type of  

security issued 

Number of 

securities issued 

Price per 

security  

($) 

Total funds received 

($) 

March 26, 2014  common shares
(1)

 
10 

(10) 
0.01 NIL 

March 26, 2014 common shares 350,000 0.01 3,500 

April 24, 2014 common shares 2,950,000 0.01 29,500 

May 6, 2014 units 
(2)

 1,666,666 0.03 50,000 

May 23, 2014 common shares 
(3)

 25,000,000 0.03 NIL 

May 23, 2014 common shares 
(4)

 550,000 0.03 NIL 

May 25, 2014 units 
(5)

 4,200,000 0.05 210,000 
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June 24, 2014 units 
(6)

 2,366,664 0.15
(7)

 355,000 

February 2, 2015 units
(8)

 673,333 0.15 100,999.95 

February 5, 2015 common shares 200,000 
(9) (9)

 

Total:  37,956,663  $748,999.95 

 
(1)

 Incorporator’s shares subsequently cancelled immediately following incorporation. 
(2)

 Each unit consists of one common share and one warrant exercisable at a price of $0.20 for a period of two 
years from the date of issuance. 

(3)
 Issued at a deemed value of $0.03 each under the Share Exchange Agreement among TL Investments, TL 

Medicine and Darcy Bomford.   No cash was received for this share issuance. 
(4)

 Issued at a deemed value of $0.03 each under a Finders’ Fee Agreement dated May 22, 2014 in respect of 
the successful completion of a transaction between TL Investments and TL Medicine. 

(5)
 Each unit consists of one common share and one warrant exercisable to purchase one additional common 

share at a price of $0.20 for a period of two years from the date of issuance. 
(6)

 Each unit consists of one common share and one-half of one warrant, with each whole warrant exercisable 
at a price of $0.25 for a period of two years from the date of issuance.  TL Investments issued, as 
commission in this offering, warrants to purchase 236,666 common shares in TL Investments at a price of 
$0.15 per share for a period of two years. 

(7)
 Units were re-priced from $0.25 to $0.15 on October 23, 2014.  Shareholders entered into amended 

subscription agreements with TL Investments and were issued additional shares and new warrants to 
account for the re-pricing. 

(8)
 Each unit consists of one common share and one-half of one warrant, with each whole warrant exercisable 

at a price of $0.25 for a period of two years from the date of issuance.  TL Investments issued, as 
commission in this offering, warrants to purchase 39,000 common shares in TL Investments at a price of 
$0.15 per share for a period of two years. 

(9)
 Common Shares issued by the Company pursuant to the Arrangement Agreement. 

All of the common shares in TL Investments were exchanged for our Common Shares on a 1-
for-1 basis on February 5, 2015. 

11. Escrowed Securities  
 
We have entered into the following stock restriction agreements: 

1. Stock Restriction Agreement with Darcy Bomford dated February 2, 2015;  
2. Stock Restriction Agreement with Kevin Bottomley dated February 2, 2015; and 
3. Stock Restriction Agreement with Kyle Stevenson dated February 2, 2015. 

All of the named persons have agreed that they will not transfer or otherwise dispose of their 
Common Shares without the Company’s prior written consent, except that such restriction will 
not apply to proportions of the shares vesting as follows:  
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Vesting Date Proportion of Vested Shares 

On the Listing Date 1/10 of the Stock  

6 months after the Listing Date 1/6 of the remainder of the Stock 

12 months after the Listing Date 1/5 of the remainder of the Stock 

18 months after the Listing Date 1/4 of the remainder of the Stock 

24 months after the Listing Date 1/3 of the remainder of the Stock 

30 months after the Listing Date 1/2 of the remainder of the Stock 

36 months after the Listing Date The remainder of the Stock 

 

provided however that such restrictions will not apply to a transfer of the shares: 

(a) to any of our directors, officers, employees or consultants; 
(b) to us, pursuant to a redemption initiated by us;  
(c) during the shareholder’s lifetime or on the Shareholder’s death by will or intestacy to 

the shareholder’s beneficiaries or a trust for the benefit of the shareholder’s 
beneficiaries (for purposes of this stock restriction agreement, “beneficiary” means 
the shareholder and the immediate family of the shareholder, including any relation 
by blood, marriage or adoption and no remote than a first cousin); or 

(d) if the shareholder is an entity, a transfer made as a distribution solely to a member, 
partner, or stockholder of such shareholder. 

so long as the transferee executes a joinder to the stock restriction agreement and any other 

agreements reasonably required us, pursuant to which such transferee(s) agree to be bound by 

the terms and conditions of the stock restriction agreement. 

The following table sets out information on the number of Common Shares held by each holder 
that are subject to the terms of their stock restriction agreement: 

  

Escrow Holders Number of Escrowed 

Common Shares 

Percentage of Class 
(1)

 

Darcy Bomford 25,000,000 66% 

Kevin Bottomley 350,000 Less than 1% 

Kyle Stevenson 27,994 Less than 1% 

TOTAL    

(1)
 Assuming 37,956,663 Common Shares issued and outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement. 



 

 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
Page 32 

#109089-11 

12. Principal Shareholders  

The following table provides information regarding our principal shareholders as of the date of 
this Listing Statement: 
 

Name Ownership Number of 
Common Shares 

Percentage of Class 
(1)

 

Darcy Bomford Of record and 
beneficially 

25,000,000 66% 

(1)
 Based on 37,956,663 Common Shares issued and outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement. 

13. Directors and Officers  

Management Experience 

Our management has a broad background of experience which will be brought to bear on the 
activities undertaken by us. The following table sets out the names of current directors and 
executive officers, their effective date of appointment as our directors or executive officers, and 
the number of Common Shares in our authorized capital which each beneficially owns, directly 
or indirectly, or over which control or direction is exercised as of the date of this Listing 
Statement. 

Name of 

Nominee,  

Current 

Position , and 

Province and 

Country of 

Residence 

Position 

Held Since
(1)

 

Common Shares 

Beneficially Owned 

or Controlled  

Number of 

Convertible or 

Exchangeable 

Securities 

Outstanding 

Total number of 

Common Shares 

Beneficially Owned 

or Controlled and 

Convertible or 

Exchangeable 

Securities 

Outstanding
(2) 

Michael 

Harcourt 

Director 

Vancouver, BC 

June 9, 2014 NIL NIL NIL 

Darcy 

Bomford   

CEO & Director 

Vernon, BC 

June 9, 2014 25,000,000 NIL 25,000,000 

Christopher 

Spooner 

Director 

Vernon, BC 

June 9, 2014 NIL NIL NIL 

Kevin 

Bottomley, 

Director          

Vancouver, BC 

June 9, 2014 350,000 NIL 350,000 
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Charles 

Austin       

CFO     

Vernon, BC 

June 9, 2014 NIL NIL NIL 

(1)
 Term of office expires upon holding the first annual meeting of shareholders. 

(2)
 Based on 37,956,663 Common Shares issued and outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement, plus full 

dilution of the shareholder’s issued shares, warrants and options. 
 

Michael Harcourt 

 

Mr. Harcourt is a graduate of the University of British Columbia, and became Mayor of Vancouver 
in 1980, serving three consecutive terms until 1986.  

 

In 1986 he was elected to the British Columbia Legislature, and in 1987 he became Leader of the 
Official Opposition. In 1991 Mr. Harcourt was elected Premier of British Columbia, a position in 
which he stayed until 1996.  

 

Between 1996 and 2004, Mr. Harcourt was appointed by the Prime Minister to serve as a member 
of the National Round Table on the Environment and the Economy where he served on the 
Executive Committee and Chaired the Urban Sustainability Program.  

 

He served as a federally appointed B.C. Treaty Commissioner, he is Honorary Chair of the 
International Centre for Sustainable Cities, and he is Co-Chair of the International Panel of 
Advisers. Mr. Harcourt serves as an advisor to Translink B.C., and is an Associate Director at the 
Centre for Sustainability, Continuing Studies at U.B.C. He is honorary co-chair at the University of 
British Columbia’s Advisory Council on Sustainability, as well is on the Canadian Electricity 
Association’s Sustainable Electricity Program Advisory Panel.   

 

Notably, in 2005 Mr. Harcourt was awarded the Woodrow Wilson Award for Public Service, in 2008 
he was awarded the Alumni Achievement Award for Distinction for contributions to B.C., Canada 
and the world from the University of British Columbia, and in 2012 he was named an Officer of the 
Order of Canada. 

 

Darcy Bomford 

 

Mr. Bomford is the founder, President, a director and Chief Executive Officer of Darford 
International Inc., a Toronto Venture Exchange publicly traded company with three decades of food 
manufacturing and executive management experience.  

 

In his years of experience with Darford International Inc., Mr. Bomford oversaw three federally 
inspected production plants in the United States and Canada, each with comprehensive food 
safety programs and third party scrutiny in a highly regulated industry.  Mr. Bomford has extensive 
expertise with marketing, product development, and professional manufacturing systems. 
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Christopher Spooner 

 

A Naturopathic Doctor practicing in Vernon, British Columbia, he is a graduate of the University of 
Victoria and the Canadian College of Naturopathic Medicine.  He is an adjunct faculty at UBC 
Okanagan, the University of Bridgeport, the Boucher Institute of Naturopathic Medicine and the 
Canadian College of Naturopathic Medicine.  He is regularly invited to lecture at colleges and 
medical conferences. 

 

Kevin Bottomley 

 

Mr. Bottomley has spent the last 8 years working on corporate communications with two publicly 
traded companies, Zimtu Capital Corp. and Commerce Resources Corp.  He has been involved 
with successful capital raises in excess of 70 million dollars and has strong working relationships 
with contacts in Canada, the U.S., Europe and Asia. 

 

Charles Austin, CPA, CA 

 

Mr. Austin was formerly a senior audit partner for Ernst & Young, and a member of Ernst & Young 
International, which has worldwide operations and more than 600 associated offices. Mr. Austin 
has more than 35 years of experience providing audit, accounting, taxation and general business 
advice to a wide range of clients.  

 

Mr. Austin will bring his significant experience auditing public companies and assisting them to 
obtain initial public financing to his position as Chief Financial Officer of TLM International. 

Penalties, Sanctions and Bankruptcy 

None of our directors, officers, insiders or promoters, nor a shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of our securities to affect materially our control, nor a personal holding company of any 
such persons has, within the past 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, 
become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency 
or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or 
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold their assets. 

Other than as disclosed herein below, during the past 10 years, none of our directors, officers, 
insiders, or promoters, or a shareholder holding a sufficient number of our securities to affect 
materially the control of us, was a director, officer, insider, or promoter of any other issuer that, 
while that person was acting in that capacity, was the subject of a cease trade order or similar 
order or an order that denied that issuer access to any exemptions under applicable securities 
legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, or became bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that person. 

Christopher Spooner required emergency surgery due to Crohn’s D2 disability/critical illness.  
Mr. Spooner’s insurance did not cover the surgery as the condition was deemed pre-existing.  
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As a result, Mr. Spooner declared bankruptcy.  On January 20, 2005, Mr. Spooner was 
discharged. 

Charles Austin filed a consumer proposal in August 2012.  The proposal was accepted by 
creditors in October 2012 and will be completed August 2017. 

None of our directors or officers or, to our knowledge, shareholders holding sufficient 
securities to affect materially the control of TLM International, has been subject to any 
penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or by a 
Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a 
Canadian securities regulatory authority, or has been subject to any other penalties or 
sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be considered 
important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision.  

Potential Conflicts 

Our directors are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to our best 
interests and to disclose any interests which they may have in any of our projects or 
opportunities.  If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Board, any director in a conflict 
will disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter.  In determining whether or not 
we will participate in any project or opportunity, that director will primarily consider the degree of 
risk to which we may be exposed and our financial position at that time. 

To the best of our knowledge, there are no known existing or potential conflicts of interest 
among us and our promoters, directors, officers or other members of management as a result of 
their outside business interests except that certain of the directors, officers, promoters and other 
members of management serve as directors, officers, promoters and members of management 
of other public companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their 
duties as a director, officer, promoter or member of management of such other companies. 

14. Capitalization  

The following tables provide information about our capitalization as of the date of this Listing 
Statement:  
 

Description of security 
Number authorized to be 

issued 
Number outstanding as at the 
date of this Listing Statement 

Common Shares No maximum 37,956,663  

Warrants No maximum 7,662,327 



 

 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
Page 36 

#109089-11 

 

Issued Capital  
Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities (fully-
diluted) 

% (non-
diluted)  

% (fully 
diluted) 

Public Float      

Total Outstanding (A)  37,956,663 45,618,990 100 100 

Held by Related Persons or employees of the Issuer 
or Related Person of the Issuer, or by persons or 
companies who beneficially own or control, directly 
or indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in the 
Issuer (or who would beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more than a 5% voting position 
in the Issuer upon exercise or conversion of other 
securities held) (B) 25,350,000 25,350,000 67 56 

Total Public Float (A-B) 12,606,663 20,268,990 33 44 

Freely Tradable Float  
 
Number of outstanding securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including restrictions imposed by pooling 
or other arrangements or in a shareholder 
agreement and securities held by control block 
holders (C) 25,377,994 25,377,994 67 56 

Total Tradable Float (A-C) 12,578,669 20,240,996 33 44 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

Class of Security     

Size of Holdings  Number of Holders  Total number of securities  

1 – 99 securities  231 10,042 

100 – 499 securities  

  

500 – 999 securities  

  

1,000 – 1,999 securities  

  

2,000 – 2,999 securities  

  

3,000 – 3,999 securities  

  

4,000 – 4,999 securities  

  

5,000 or more securities  

  

Total 231 10,042 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Class of Security     

Size of Holdings  Number of Holders  Total number of securities  

1 – 99 securities  3 152 

100 – 499 securities  7 2,877 

500 – 999 securities  192 97,802 

1,000 – 1,999 securities  9 9,129 

2,000 – 2,999 securities    

3,000 – 3,999 securities  1 3,752 

4,000 – 4,999 securities   76,246 

5,000 or more securities  54 12,406,663 

Total 266 12,596,621 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Class of Security     

Size of Holdings  Number of Holders  Total number of securities  

1 – 99 securities    

100 – 499 securities    

500 – 999 securities    

1,000 – 1,999 securities    

2,000 – 2,999 securities    

3,000 – 3,999 securities    

4,000 – 4,999 securities    

5,000 or more securities  2 25,350,000 

Total 2 25,350,000 

 
Proposed Share Issuances 
 
We recognize that we need to raise more capital and plan to do so with further private 
placements of Common Shares.  However, we want to ensure that further share issuances 
pursuant to private placement occur in stages, so as to minimize dilution to the value of the 
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shares held by our existing shareholders.  Our goal is that each of the proposed private 
placement financings will take place at a higher price per share than the one preceding.   
 
Convertible Securities 

The following table summarizes the outstanding securities convertible into Common Shares in 
our authorized capital as of the date of this Listing Statement: 
 

Description of the Security 

(including conversion or exercise 

terms, including conversion or 

exercise price) 

Number of Convertible or 

Exchangeable Securities 

Outstanding 

Number of Listed Securities 

Issuable Upon Conversion or 

Exercise 

$0.15 Warrants 
(1)

 275,665 275,665 

$0.20 Warrants 
(1)

 5,866,666 5,866,666 

$0.25 Warrants
(1)

 1,519,997 1,519,997 

(1)
 Warrants are further described under “Section 10, Description of the Securities”. 

15. Executive Compensation  

Compensation to be paid to our officers and directors will be determined by our Board once our 
operations have been established, in accordance with management consulting agreements that 
we plan to enter into with its officers and directors. 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis, 

We rely on the Board to determine the executive compensation that is to be paid to our named 
executive officers.  The compensation paid to each named executive officer since incorporation 
is as set out in the following Summary Compensation Table: 
 

Name and 
principal 
position Year 

Salary 
($) 

Share 
based 
awards 

($) 

Option 
based 
awards 

($) 

Non-Equity Incentive 
Plan compensation 

Pension 
value 

($) 

All other 
compen-

sation 
($) 

Total 
compen-

sation 
($) 

Annual 
Incentive 

Plans 

Long 
term 

Incentive 
Plans 

Darcy 
Bomford,  

CEO 

 
2014 15,000 NIL NIL Zero Zero Zero 

(1) 
15,000 

Charles 
Austin, CFO 

 
2014 

12,000 Zero  NIL Zero  Zero  Zero  NIL 12,000 

(1)
 See “Section 10, Description of the Securities”. 
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Incentive Plan Awards 

We have not entered into any incentive plans at this point to our executive officers, directors or 
employees.  

Pension Plan Benefits 

We do not currently provide any pension plan benefits to our executive officers, directors, or 
employees. 

Employment Agreements and Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

There are no compensatory plans or arrangements with respect to the named executive officers 
resulting from the resignation, retirement or any other termination of employment of the officer’s 
employment or from a change of named executive officers’ responsibilities following a Change 
of Control.  We have not granted any termination or change of control benefits.  In case of 
termination of named executive officers, common law and statutory law applies.  

Director Compensation 

The following are all amounts of compensation provided to our directors who were not named 
executive officers in our other Summary Compensation Table: 

 

Name 

Fees 
earned 

($) 

Share-
based 
awards 

($) 

Option-
based 
awards 

($) 

Non-Equity 
Incentive 

Plan 
compensatio

n ($) 

Pension 
value 

($) 

All other 
compensatio

n ($) 
Total 

($) 

Michael 
Harcourt 

zero zero zero zero zero zero NIL 

Christopher 
Spooner 

zero zero zero zero zero zero NIL 

There are no other arrangements from those disclosed above under which directors were 
compensated by us to the date of this Listing Statement.  

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers  

No director or executive officer, or any associate or affiliate of any such director or senior officer, 
is or has been indebted to us since the date of incorporation.  No director or executive officer, or 
associate or affiliate of any such director or senior officer, is or has been indebted to us since 
the beginning of the last completed financial year.   

17. Risk Factors  

The following are certain factors relating to our business which prospective investors should 
carefully consider before deciding whether to purchase Common Shares in our authorized 
capital.  The following information is a summary only of certain risk factors and is qualified in its 
entirety by reference to, and must be read in conjunction with, the detailed information 
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appearing elsewhere in this Listing Statement. These risks and uncertainties are not the only 
ones we are facing.  Additional risk and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we 
currently deem immaterial, may also impair our operations.  If any such risks actually occur, the 
business, financial condition, liquidity and results of our operations could be materially adversely 
affected. 

We lack an operating history and have not yet received a Producer’s License.  There is 
no assurance that our future operations will result in revenues or profits.  If we cannot 
generate sufficient revenues to operate profitably, we may suspend or cease our 
operations. 

We are a start-up company and we do not have an operating history.  We have not received a 
Producer’s License from Health Canada and there can be no assurance that we will receive a 
Producer’s License.  Until we receive a Producer’s License, we cannot begin the production, 
sale and distribution of medical marijuana.  It is currently not known when or if we will be 
granted a Producer’s License.  The key milestones to obtaining a Producer’s License include 
filing an application, receiving a “Ready to Build” notice, completion of the upgrades as per the 
application, approval to produce upon inspection of the facility, and approval to distribute the 
product to patients.  

We have an option to lease a property and building in Lumby, BC on which we propose to 
conduct our operations. We expect to enter into a formal lease with the property owner, but 
there is a risk that the owner may exercise its right to cancel the option to lease in accordance 
with the terms of the option, If the option were cancelled, we would need to secure another 
location.  

We will be subject to all of the business risks and uncertainties associated with any new 
business enterprise, including the risks that we will be unable to acquire the necessary 
Producer’s License, successfully produce the product, or establish a market for our product. If 
we receive a Producer’s License, we anticipate at least 12 months from the date of listing to 
achieve positive cash flow from operations. There can be no assurance that consumer demand 
for our product will be as anticipated, or that we will become profitable.   

We will need a significant amount of capital to carry out our proposed business plan, and 
unless we are able to raise sufficient funds, we may be forced to discontinue our 
operations.  

We are in the development stage, have not started operating and have not generated any 
revenue.  The building and operation of medical marijuana facilities and business are capital 
intensive.  We will likely operate at a loss until our business becomes established and we will 
require additional financing in order to fund future operations and expansion plans. Our ability to 
secure any required financing to commence and sustain our operations will depend in part upon 
prevailing capital market conditions, as well as our business success.  There can be no 
assurance that we will be successful in our efforts to secure any additional financing or 
additional financing on terms satisfactory to our management.  If additional financing is raised 
by issuing Common Shares in our authorized capital, control may change and shareholders 
may suffer additional dilution. If adequate funds are not available, or are not available on 
acceptable terms, we may be required to scale back our business plan or cease operating. 
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We are subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines.  Changes to such laws, 
regulations and guidelines may cause negatively impact our operations. 

Our business will be subject to particular laws, regulations, and guidelines, particularly MMPR 
and Health Canada.  The production and distribution of medical marijuana is a highly regulated 
field.  Our operations will be subject to regulations relating to the manufacture, management, 
transportation, storage and disposal of medical marijuana but also including laws and 
regulations relating to health and safety, the conduct of operations and the protection of the 
environment.  Although we intend to comply with all laws and regulations, there is no guarantee 
that the governing laws and regulations will not change, outside of our control.  

On March 21, 2014, the Federal Court of Canada issued an order allowing certain individuals to 
continue under their MMAR licenses, thereby affecting the repeal of the MMAR.  As of the date 
of this Listing Statement, the Government of Canada has decided to appeal the order; however, 
it is unclear what a final ruling on this issue may be, and how it may affect our business. It is 
possible that a ruling in favour of the original order could allow persons who had a license under 
the MMAR to opt out of the new MMPR regime, thereby decreasing the size of the market for 
our business, and potentially materially and adversely affecting our business, financial condition 
and operations. A detailed description of this order can be found in “Section 4, Narrative 
Description of the Business”.  

We will likely face intense competition from other companies.  Increased competition by 
larger and better financed competitors could materially and adversely affect our 
business and financial condition. 

Although the market for our product does appear to be sizeable, we expect significant 
competition from other companies due to the recent nature of the MMPR regime.  Because of 
early stage of the industry in which we operate, we expect to face additional competition from 
new entrants.  A large number of companies have applied for Producer’s Licenses, some of 
which may have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources, may be 
able to devote greater resources to the development, production, marketing, and sale of their 
products and services, and may have more extensive customer bases and broader customer 
relationships. 

Should the size of the medical marijuana market increase as projected, the demand for product 
will increase as well, and if we hope to be competitive we will need to invest significantly in 
research and development, marketing, production expansion, new client identification, and client 
support.  If we are not successful in achieving sufficient resources to invest in these areas, our 
ability to compete in the market may be adversely affected, which could materially and 
adversely affect our business, its financial condition and operations.  

We are subject to unfavorable consumer perception. 

We believe the medical marijuana industry is highly dependent upon consumer perception 
regarding the safety, efficacy and quality of the medical marijuana produced.  Consumer 
perception of our products can be significantly influenced by scientific research or findings, 
regulatory investigations, litigation, media attention and other publicity regarding the 
consumption of medical marijuana products.  There can be no assurance that future scientific 
research, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other research findings 
or publicity will be favourable to the medical marijuana market or any particular product, or 
consistent with earlier publicity.  Future research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, 
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litigation, media attention or other publicity that are perceived as less favourable than, or that 
question, earlier research reports, findings or publicity could have a material adverse effect on 
the demand for our products and our business, results of operations, financial condition and 
cash flows.  Our dependence upon consumer perceptions means that adverse scientific 
research reports, findings, regulatory proceedings, litigation, media attention or other publicity, 
whether or not accurate or with merit, could have a material adverse effect on us, the demand 
for our products, and our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  
Further, adverse publicity reports or other media attention regarding the safety, efficacy and 
quality of medical marijuana in general, or our products specifically, or associating the 
consumption of medical marijuana with illness or other negative effects or events, could have 
such a material adverse effect.  Such adverse publicity reports or other media attention could 
arise even if the adverse effects associated with such products resulted from consumers’ failure 
to consume such products appropriately or as directed. 

We are exposed to product liability claims, which could negatively impact the results of 
our operations and our financial condition. 

As a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, we face an 
inherent risk of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action and litigation if products are 
alleged to have caused significant loss or injury.  In addition, the manufacture and sale of our 
products involve the risk of injury to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties 
or product contamination.  Previously unknown adverse reactions resulting from human 
consumption of our products alone or in combination with other medications or substances 
could occur.  We may be subject to various product liability claims, including, among others, that 
our products caused injury or illness, include inadequate instructions for use or include 
inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other substances.  A 
product liability claim or regulatory action against us could result in increased costs, could 
adversely affect our reputation with our clients and consumers generally, and could have a 
material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.  There can be no 
assurances that we will be able to obtain or maintain product liability insurance on acceptable 
terms or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities.  Such insurance is expensive and 
may not be available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all.  The inability to obtain sufficient 
insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect against potential product 
liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of our potential products.  

We are subject to product recalls. 

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their 
products for a variety of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended 
harmful side effects or interactions with other substances, packaging safety and inadequate or 
inaccurate labeling disclosure.  If any of our products are recalled due to an alleged product 
defect or for any other reason, we could be required to incur the unexpected expense of the 
recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in connection with the recall.  We may lose a 
significant amount of sales and may not be able to replace those sales at an acceptable margin 
or at all.  In addition, a product recall may require significant management attention.  Although 
we will have detailed procedures in place for testing our products, there can be no assurance 
that any quality, potency or contamination problems will be detected in time to avoid unforeseen 
product recalls, regulatory action or lawsuits.  Additionally, if one of our significant brands were 
subject to recall, our image and the image of that brand could be harmed.  A recall for any of the 
foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for our products and could have a material 
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adverse effect on the results of our operations and our financial condition.  Additionally, product 
recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of our operations by Health Canada or other regulatory 
agencies, requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses. 

No assurance can be given that we will be able to manage our advertising and 
promotional costs on a cost-effective basis. 

Our future growth and profitability will depend on the effectiveness and efficiency of advertising 
and promotional costs, including our ability to (i) create brand recognition for our product; (ii) 
determine appropriate advertising strategies, messages and media; and (iii) maintain 
acceptable operating margins on such costs.  There can be no assurance that advertising and 
promotional costs will result in revenues for our business in the future, or will generate 
awareness of our product or testing services.  

Our success depends in part on our ability to attract and retain additional key skilled 
professionals, which we may or may not be able to do. Our failure to do so could prevent 
us from achieving our goals or becoming profitable. 

Our success will depend on our directors and officers to develop our business and manage our 
operations, and on our ability to attract and retain key quality assurance, scientific, sales, public 
relations and marketing staff or consultants once operations begin.  The loss of any key person 
or the inability to find and retain new key persons could have a material adverse effect on our 
business.  Competition for qualified technical, sales and marketing staff, as well as officers and 
directors can be intense and no assurance can be provided that we will be able to attract or 
retain key personnel in the future, which may adversely impact our operations.  

We are subject to risks inherent in the agricultural business. 

Since our business will revolve mainly around the growth of medical marijuana, an agricultural 
product, the risks inherent with agricultural businesses will apply.  Such risks may include plant 
disease and insect pests, among others.  Although we are required by the MMPR to grow our 
product in a climate controlled, monitored, indoor location, there is no guarantee that changes in 
outside weather and climate will not adversely affect production.  Further, any rise in energy 
costs may have a material adverse effect on our ability to produce medical marijuana in a cost-
effective manner. 

We will depend on fast and efficient courier services.  Any prolonged disruption or 
increase in costs associated such services may adversely impact our business and our 
ability to operate profitably. 

By law, medical marijuana must be delivered by courier directly to patient customers.  The 
ability to obtain speedy, cost-effective and efficient transport services will be essential to the 
lengthy operations of our business.  Should such transportation become unavailable for 
prolonged periods of time, there may be a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
situation and operations.   

Our assets, operations and employees will be exposed to operational risks. We will 
obtain insurance coverage for such risks, however liability may exceed indemnity 
coverage. 

We intend to obtain insurance to protect our assets, operations and employees.  While we 
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believe insurance coverage can adequately address all material risks to which we may be 
exposed and will be adequate and customary in our current and future state of operations, such 
insurance is subject to coverage limits and exclusions and may not be available for the risks and 
hazards to which we are exposed.  In addition, no assurance can be given that such insurance 
will be adequate to cover our liabilities or will be generally available in the future or, if available, 
that premiums will be commercially justifiable.  If we were to incur substantial liability and such 
damages were not covered by insurance or were in excess of policy limits, or if we were to incur 
such liability at a time when it is not able to obtain liability insurance, our business, results of 
operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.  

We may be subject to growth-related risks including capacity constraints and pressure 
on internal systems and controls.  

Our ability to manage growth effectively will require us to continue to implement and improve 
our operational and financial systems and to expand, train and manage our employee base.  
Our inability to deal with this growth may have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Conflicts of interest may exist for directors and officers. 

Certain of our directors and officers are also directors and officers of other companies, and 
conflicts of interest may arise between their duties as our officers and directors and as officers 
and directors of such other companies.  

We have not and do not foresee issuing shareholder dividends. 

We have no earnings or dividend record, and do not anticipate paying any dividends on the 
Common Shares in the foreseeable future.  Dividends paid by us would be subject to tax and, 
potentially, withholdings.  

We are subject to environmental and employee health and safety regulations for which 
we must incur compliance costs.  Failure to comply with the regulations could result in 
adverse sanctions. 

Our operations will be subject to environmental and safety laws and regulations concerning, 
among other things, emissions and discharges to water, air and land, the handling and disposal 
of hazardous and non-hazardous materials and wastes, and employee health and safety.  We 
will incur ongoing costs and obligations related to compliance with environmental and employee 
health and safety matters.  Failure to comply with environmental and safety laws and 
regulations may result in additional costs for corrective measures, penalties or in restrictions on 
our manufacturing operations.  In addition, changes in environmental, employee health and 
safety or other laws, more vigorous enforcement thereof or other unanticipated events could 
require extensive changes to our operations or give rise to material liabilities, which could have 
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

18. Promoter Consideration 

Other than as disclosed herein, the Company has not provided consideration to any promoter 
within the two years immediately preceding this Listing Statement.  
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19. Legal Proceedings  

As of the date of this Listing Statement, we are not a party to any material legal proceedings or 
any regulatory actions.  We do not contemplate any material legal proceedings and is not aware 
of any material legal proceedings being contemplated against the Company. 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material 
 Transactions  

Other than as disclosed below, no director, executive officer or principal shareholder of us, or an 
associate or affiliate of a director, executive officer or principal shareholder of us, has any 
material interest, direct or indirect, in any transactions which has occurred since our 
incorporation, or in any proposed transaction that has materially affected or will materially affect 
us.  

21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars  

Auditor 

Our auditor is Davidson & Company, Chartered Accountants of 609 Granville Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia, V7Y 1G6. 

Transfer Agent and Registrar 

Our registrar and transfer agent is Computershare Investor Services Inc. of 510 Burrard Street, 
3rd Floor, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 3B9. 

22. Material Contracts 

The following table summarizes our material contracts as of the date of this Listing Statement: 

Agreement Parties Date 

Share Exchange Agreement TL Investments, TL Medicine & Darcy Bomford 

May 7, 2014, 

amended May 16, 

2014 

Arrangement Agreement and Plan 

of Arrangement 
Noor, TLM International & TL Investments June 9, 2014 

CFO Contract TL Medicine & Chuck Austin May 20, 2014 

Option to Lease Lumby, BC 

Property 
TL Medicine & Gudeit Bros. Contracting Ltd. March 27, 2014 

Services Contract TL Medicine & Technical Institution May 20, 2014 

23. Interest of Experts  

Other than as disclosed below, there is no direct or indirect interest in our business or of a 
Related Person received or to be received by a person or company whose profession or 
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business gives authority to a statement made by the person or company and who is named as 
having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement or prepared or certified a report or 
valuation described or included in this Listing Statement:  

24. Other Material Facts  

There are no material facts other than as disclosed therein.  

25. Financial Statements 

The following financial statements are attached as schedules to this Listing Statement: 

 Financial Statements of TL Investments for the period from its incorporation on March 
26, 2014 to March 31, 2014, attached as Schedule “A”; 

 Financial Statements of TL Medicine for the period from its incorporation on July 4, 2014 
to March 31, 2014, attached as Schedule “B”;  

 TL Investments Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the period ended March 31, 
2014, attached as Schedule “C”;  

 TL Medicine Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the period ended March 31, 
2014, attached as Schedule “D”; 

 Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements of TL Investments for the period 
from March 31, 2014 to September 30, 2014 (unaudited), attached as Schedule “E”;  

 TL Investments Management Discussion and Analysis for the period ended September 
30, 2014, attached as Schedule “F”; and 

 Financial Statements of TLM International for the period from its incorporation on June 9, 
2014 to December 31, 2014 (unaudited), attached as Schedule “G”. 
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SCHEDULE “A” 

Financial Statements of TL Investments for the period  

from its incorporation on March 26, 2014 to March 31, 2014 

 [inserted as pages following] 

  



True Leaf Investments Corp.
Financial Statements

March 31, 2014
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of
True Leaf Investments Corp.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of True Leaf Investments Corp., which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at March 31, 2014, and the statements of comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ deficit and cash 
flows for the period from incorporation on March 26, 2014 to March 31, 2014, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.



Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of True Leaf 
Investments Corp. as at March 31, 2014 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the period from incorporation on 
March 26, 2014 to March 31, 2014 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which describes conditions and 
matters that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about True Leaf Investments 
Corp.’s ability to continue as a going concern.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP”

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Accountants

June 9, 2014



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Assets

Current Assets

   Cash $ 1,404

Total Assets $ 1,404

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit

Current Liabilities

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 5,000

Total Liabilities 5,000

Shareholders’ Deficit

Share subscriptions received (Note 5) 6,500

Share capital (Note 5) 3,500

Deficit (13,596)

Total Shareholders’ Deficit (3,596)

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit $ 1,404

Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1)
Events After the Reporting Period (Note 9)

Approved by the Board of Directors on June 9, 2014:

“Kevin Bottomley” Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.

Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Expenses

   Accounting and audit $ 5,000

   Legal 8,596

Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the Period $ 13,596

Loss per common shares – basic and diluted $   (0.04)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding      350,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficit

Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Number of 
Shares

Share 
Subscriptions 

Received
Share 
Capital Deficit

Total 
Shareholders’

Deficit
Balance, March 26, 2014 -         $            - $         -    $        -   $           -   

Incorporation shares 
issued 10                      -   1      -   1

Incorporation shares 
cancelled (10)                       - (1)              - (1)

Founder’s shares issued 350,000           - 3,500              - 3,500

Share subscription 
received            6,500 -               - 6,500

Loss for the period -                       - - (13,596) (13,596)

Balance, March 31, 2014 350,000 $    6,500 $ 3,500 $(13,596) $   (3,596)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.

Statement of Cash Flows

Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Operating Activities

   Comprehensive loss for the period $ (13,596)

   Changes in non-cash working capital items:

        Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 5,000

Net  Cash Used In Operating Activities (8,596)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

        Founder’s shares issued for cash 3,500

        Share subscriptions received 6,500

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 10,000

Net increase in cash 1,404

Cash, Beginning of period -   

Cash, End of period $ 1,404 

There was no cash paid for interest or income taxes from March 26, 2014 (date of incorporation) to March 31, 
2014.

There were no non-cash financing or investing activities from March 26, 2014 (date of incorporation) to March 31, 
2014.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

True Leaf Investment Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated on March 26, 2014 under the Business 
Corporations Act of the Province of British Columbia. The major activity of the Company will be 
identification and acquisition of a licensed producer of medical marijuana in Canada. The Company’s 
registered office is Suite 1820, 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3L2.

(a) Going Concern 

These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that the 
Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
For the period from incorporation on March 26, 2014 to March 31, 2014, the Company incurred a loss and 
deficit of $13,596. The continued operations of the Company are dependent on its ability to generate 
future cash flows or obtain additional funding through private placement financings (Note 9). Management 
is of the opinion that it does not have sufficient working capital and will require external financing to meet 
the Company’s liabilities and commitments as they become due, although there is a risk that financing will 
not be available on a timely basis or on terms acceptable to the Company. These material uncertainties 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

These financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary should the 
Company be unable to continue as a going concern and, therefore, be required to realize its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those 
reflected in the accompanying financial statements.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of Compliance

The Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standard (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). These financial 
statements were authorized for issue by its Director on June 9, 2014.

(b) Basis of Measurement and Use of Estimates

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d…)

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates,
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the period. These estimates are, by their 
nature, uncertain. The impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and 
may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. These estimates are based on current and future economic conditions and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management 
has made at the reporting date that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not 
limited to, the following:

i) fair values of financial instruments; and
ii) deferred income taxes. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial instruments

Financial instruments consist of financial assets and financial liabilities and are initially recognized at fair 
value net of transaction costs, if applicable. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the 
financial instrument has been classified as “fair value through profit or loss,” “loans and receivables,” 
“available-for-sale,” “held-to-maturity,” or “financial liabilities measured at amortized cost” as follows:

i) Financial assets

Financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value with unrealized 
gains and losses recognized in net loss for the period in which such gains or losses occur. The 
Company’s cash is classified as fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held-to-maturity are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method. Under this method, all cash flows from these instruments are 
discounted, where material, to their present value.  Over time, this present value is accreted to the future 
value of remaining cash flows, and this accretion is recorded as interest income. The Company does not 
hold any financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables and no financial assets have been 
classified as held-to-maturity.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and 
losses recognized in other comprehensive income except for losses in value that are considered other
than temporary. Upon disposal of an available-for-sale financial asset, any accumulated other 
comprehensive income or loss at the time of disposal is recognized in profit or loss. The Company does 
not hold any financial assets that have been classified as available-for-sale by the Company.

Transaction costs associated with fair value through profit or loss financial assets are expensed as 
incurred, while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial 
carrying amount of the asset.

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be 
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets. 

ii) Financial liabilities

For financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method, all cash flows from these instruments are discounted, where material, to their 
present value.  Over time, this present value is accreted to the future value of remaining cash flows, and 
this accretion is recorded as interest expense. The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, but as the terms of payment are generally 
of short duration, they are recorded at present value as the impact of discounting is immaterial.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and/or with original maturities of three months or 
less. As at March 31, 2014, the Company does not have any cash equivalents.

Share capital

Common shares issued for non-monetary consideration are recorded at their fair value on the 
measurement date and classified as items of equity (deficit).  The measurement date is defined as the 
earliest of the date at which the commitment for performance by the counterparty to earn the common 
shares is reached or the date at which the counterparty’s performance is complete.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share purchase options are 
recognized as a deduction from equity (deficit), net of any tax effects.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Loss per share

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by 
dividing the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 
common shares issued and outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share is calculated by 
adjusting the loss attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares.  The calculation of diluted loss 
per share assumes that the proceeds to be received on the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the period.

Income taxes

Income tax expense consists of current and deferred tax expense.  Income tax expense is recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive loss.  Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for 
amendments to tax payable with regards to previous periods.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deferred tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted or substantively 
enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability settled.  The effect on 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that 
substantive enactment occurs.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized.  To the extent that the Company does not consider it 
probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, the deferred tax asset is reduced.

4. NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS NOT EFFECTIVE

The following standard is not expected to have any significant effect on the Company other than 
increased disclosure:

(a) IFRS 7, Financial Instruments - Disclosure

These amendments require additional disclosure on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9, and are effective for 
annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2015.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

5. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized:

Unlimited Common voting shares with no par value
Unlimited Preferred non-voting share with no par value

Issued:

On incorporation, 10 common shares were issued at $0.01 per share. These shares were subsequently 
cancelled on issuance of 350,000 common shares to the founder of the Company at $0.01 per share for 
total consideration of $3,500. No other common shares were issued during the period ended March 31, 
2014.

During the period ended March 31, 2014, $6,500 was received for future common share consideration. 
The amount has been classified as share subscriptions received, and will be converted into common 
shares of the Company at a price of $0.01 per share.

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Fair Value

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position are classified using a 
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair 
value hierarchy has the following levels:

a) Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
b) Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly 

or indirectly; and 
c) Level 3 - Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A 
financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been 
considered in measuring fair value.

The carrying value of accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximated their fair value because of 
the short-term nature of this instrument.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d…)

As at March 31, 2014, the Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value are as follows:

Risk

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a risk management 
framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides information 
about the Company's risk exposure and concentration as of March 31, 2014:

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that another entity will default on its contractual obligations which will result in
a loss for the Company. At March 31, 2014, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk was the 
carrying value of cash. The Company limits its credit exposure on cash by holding its deposits mainly with 
Canadian chartered banks.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting future obligations with financial 
liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect to finance future growth.

Currency risk

The Company has no currency risk as of March 31, 2014.

Interest rate risk   

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a 
change in the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the Company 
manages exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. The Company is not at risk as of 
March 31, 2014.

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash 1,404$   -$                     -$                 1,404$        



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d…)

Capital Management

The Company’s capital includes share capital and the cumulative deficit.  The Company’s objectives 
when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Company manages 
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The Company may issue new shares in order to meet its 
financial obligations.

7. INCOME TAXES

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:

Period Ended 
March 31, 2014

Loss for the period $                    (13,596)

Expected income tax recovery $                      3,535

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences $                      (3,535)

Total income tax expense (recovery) $                               -   

The significant components of the Company’s unrecognized deferred tax assets are as follows:

March 31, 2014

Deferred income tax assets

Non-capital losses $                        3,600

Total unrecognized deferred income tax asset $                        3,600

The Company has non-capital losses of approximately $14,000 available for deduction against future 
taxable income. These losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2034. Future tax benefits which may 
arise as a result of these tax assets have not been recognized in these financial statements as it is not 
probable that they will be realized.

Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

8. COMMITMENTS

The Company has no commitments as of March 31, 2014.

9. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the period ended March 31, 2014:

a) The Company completed a private placement financing of 2,950,000 common shares at a price of $0.01 
per share for gross proceeds of $29,500.

b) The Company completed a private placement financing of 1,666,666 units at a price of $0.03 per unit for 
gross proceeds of $50,000. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable at a price of $0.20 for a period of two years from closing of the financing.

c) The Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement (the “Agreement”) with True Leaf Medicine Inc. 
(“TL Medicine”) and its sole shareholder (the “Shareholder”) whereby the Company will acquire all of the 
issued and outstanding common shares of TL Medicine from the Shareholder by way of share exchange, 
resulting in TL Medicine becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Shareholder will 
transfer all of his 2,500,000 common shares of TL Medicine to the Company in exchange for 25,000,000 
common shares of the Company. 

Following completion of the Agreement on May 23, 2014, the Company entered into a Plan of 
Arrangement (Note 9(e)) whereby it will become the subsidiary of an entity that will apply to become a 
publicly listed entity on the Canadian Stock Exchange.

d) The Company completed a private placement financing of 4,200,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for 
gross proceeds of $210,000. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable at a price of $0.20 for a period of two years from closing of the financing.

e) The Company entered into an Arrangement Agreement for a Plan of Arrangement (the “Arrangement”) 
with Noor Energy Corporation (“Noor”) and True Leaf Medicine International Inc. (“TL Medicine 
International”) whereby the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of TL 
Medicine International from Noor (the “Purchase Shares”) for the purchase price of $20,000, $19,900 of 
which was paid on signing of the Arrangement Agreement and the balance of $100 of which will be 
payable on closing of the Arrangement. The Company and TL Medicine International will then complete a 
share exchange on a 1:1 basis, such that all of the issued and outstanding common shares of the 
Company shall be exchanged by their holders for the same number of common shares of TL Medicine 
International. TL Medicine International will then issue 355,000 of its common shares to Noor (the 
“Distribution Shares”) in exchange for 5,000 common shares of Noor .



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on March 26, 2014 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
__________________________________________________________________________

9. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (cont’d…)

The Distribution Shares will then be distributed to the shareholders of Noor on a pro-rated basis 
according to their shareholdings. The controlling shareholder of Noor has agreed to forego 155,000 
Distribution Shares he would have received, which will be cancelled immediately following the distribution 
of the TL Medicine International common shares Distribution Shares to Noor’s shareholders.

The Purchase Shares will then be cancelled. On closing of the Arrangement, TL Medicine International 
will become a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta, and the Company will become its wholly-
owned subsidiary.
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True Leaf Medicine Inc.
Financial Statements

March 31, 2014
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

       
       

  



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholder of
True Leaf Medicine Inc.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of True Leaf Medicine Inc., which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at March 31, 2014, and the statements of comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ deficit and cash 
flows for the period from incorporation on July 4, 2013 to March 31, 2014, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.



Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of True Leaf Medicine 
Inc. as at March 31, 2014 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the period from incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which describes conditions and 
matters that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about True Leaf Medicine Inc.’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

“DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLP”

Vancouver, Canada Chartered Accountants

June 9, 2014



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.

Statement of Financial Position
As at March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Assets

Current Assets

   Prepaid expenses $ 4,000

Total Assets $ 4,000

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit

Current Liabilities

   Bank indebtedness $ 337

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 19,252

   Due to related party (Note 5) 61,616

Total Liabilities 81,205

Shareholders’ Deficit

Share capital (Note 6) 12

Deficit (77,217)

Total Shareholders’ Deficit (77,205)

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit $ 4,000

Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1)
Events After the Reporting Period (Note 10)

Approval on behalf of the Board of Directors on June 9, 2014:

“Darcy Bomford” Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.

Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Expenses

   Accounting and Legal (Note 5) $ 19,735

   Advertising and promotions 7,653

   Consulting fees 40,750

   Office and administration 2,645

   Travel 6,434

Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the Period $ 77,217

Loss per common shares – basic and diluted $   (202.14)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding      382

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.

Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficit

Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Number of 
Shares

Share 
Capital Deficit

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Deficit

Balance, July 4, 2013 -   $ -   $ -   $ -   
  
Incorporation shares issued 382 12 -   12

Loss for the period -   -   (77,217) (77,217)

Balance, March 31, 2014 382 $ 12 $ (77,217) $ (77,205)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.

Statement of Cash Flows

Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

   Loss for the period $ (77,217)

   Changes in non-cash working capital items:

        Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 19,252

        Prepaid expenses (4,000)

        Due to related party 61,616

Net  Cash Used In Operating Activities (349)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

        Incorporation shares issued for cash 12

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 12

Net decrease in cash (337)

Bank indebtedness, Beginning of period -   

Bank indebtedness, End of period $ (337) 

There was no cash paid for interest or income taxes from July 4, 2013 (date of incorporation) to March 31, 2014.

There were no non-cash financing or investing activities from July 4, 2013 (date of incorporation) to March 31, 
2014.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN

True Leaf Medicine Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated on July 4, 2013 under the Business 
Corporations Act of the Province of British Columbia. The major activity of the Company will be the
production and sale of Medical Marijuana in Canada. The Company’s registered office is 32A – 100 
Kalamalka Lake Road, Vernon, BC, V1T 9G1.

Subsequent to the period ended March 31, 2014, the Company split its share capital on the basis of 
3.179 new common shares for 1 old share. All common shares, per share, and weighted average price 
amounts have been restated in these financial statements to reflect this share split.

(a) Going Concern 

These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes that the 
Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
For the period from incorporation on July 4, 2013 to March 31, 2014, the Company incurred a loss of 
$77,217. The continued operations of the Company are dependent on its ability to generate future cash 
flows or obtain additional financing through equity or debt transactions. Management is of the opinion that 
it does not have sufficient working capital and will require external financing to meet the Company’s 
liabilities and commitments as they become due, although there is a risk that financing will not be
available on a timely basis or on terms acceptable to the Company. These material uncertainties may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

These financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary should the 
Company be unable to continue as a going concern and, therefore, be required to realize its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those 
reflected in the accompanying financial statements.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of Compliance

The Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standard (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). These financial 
statements were authorized for issue by its Director on June 9, 2014.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont’d…)

(b) Basis of Measurement and Use of Estimates

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments which are measured at fair value. The financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates,
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the period. These estimates are, by their 
nature, uncertain. The impact of such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and 
may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. These estimates are based on current and future economic conditions and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management 
has made at the reporting date that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not 
limited to, the following:

i) fair values of financial instruments; and
ii) deferred income taxes. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial instruments

Financial instruments consist of financial assets and financial liabilities and are initially recognized at fair 
value net of transaction costs, if applicable. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the 
financial instrument has been classified as “fair value through profit or loss,” “loans and receivables,” 
“available-for-sale,” “held-to-maturity,” or “other financial liabilities measured at amortized cost” as follows:

i) Financial assets

Financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value with unrealized 
gains and losses recognized in net loss for the period in which such gains or losses occur. 



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held-to-maturity are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method. Under this method, all cash flows from these instruments are 
discounted, where material, to their present value.  Over time, this present value is accreted to the future 
value of remaining cash flows, and this accretion is recorded as interest income. 

The Company does not hold any financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables and no 
financial assets have been classified as held-to-maturity.

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and 
losses recognized in other comprehensive income except for losses in value that are considered other 
than temporary. Upon disposal of an available-for-sale financial asset, any accumulated other 
comprehensive income or loss at the time of disposal is recognized in profit or loss. The Company does 
not hold any financial assets that have been classified as available-for-sale by the Company.

Transaction costs associated with fair value through profit or loss financial assets are expensed as 
incurred, while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial 
carrying amount of the asset.

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be 
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets. 

ii) Financial liabilities

For financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method, all cash flows from these instruments are discounted, where material, to their 
present value.  Over time, this present value is accreted to the future value of remaining cash flows, and 
this accretion is recorded as interest expense. The Company’s bank indebtedness, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities and due to related party are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, 
but as the terms of payment are generally of short duration, they are recorded at present value as the 
impact of discounting is immaterial.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and/or with original maturities of three months or 
less. As at March 31, 2014, the Company does not have any cash or cash equivalents and is in an 
indebtedness position.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Share capital

Common shares issued for non-monetary consideration are recorded at their fair value on the 
measurement date and classified as items of equity (deficit).  The measurement date is defined as the 
earliest of the dates at which the commitment for performance by the counterparty to earn the common 
shares is reached or the date at which the counterparty’s performance is complete.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share purchase options are 
recognized as a deduction from equity (deficit), net of any tax effects.

Loss per share

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by 
dividing the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of 
common shares issued and outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share is calculated by 
adjusting the loss attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares.  The calculation of diluted loss 
per share assumes that the proceeds to be received on the exercise of dilutive stock options and 
warrants are used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the period.

Income taxes

Income tax expense consists of current and deferred tax expense.  Income tax expense is recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive loss.  Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for 
amendments to tax payable with regards to previous periods.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deferred tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted or substantively 
enacted tax rates expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability settled.  The effect on 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that 
substantive enactment occurs.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized.  To the extent that the Company does not consider it 
probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, the deferred tax asset is reduced.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment will be stated at cost less accumulated amortization. Plant and equipment will be 
amortized over their estimated useful lives at various rates and methods.

Revenue recognition

The Company will recognize revenue from customer orders upon shipment of the order when the sales
price is fixed and determinable and collection is reasonably assured.

SR&ED refundable investment tax credits receivable

The Company carries on certain scientific research and development activities and is eligible to earn tax 
credits based on qualifying expenditures. Investment tax credits are reported as either a reduction of cost 
of the applicable assets or credited to the statement of comprehensive loss depending on the nature of 
the expenditures which gave rise to the credits. The Company expenses all research costs as incurred. 
Claims for investment tax credits are recorded when received.

Income tax expense will be comprised of current and deferred income taxes.  Current income tax and 
deferred income tax will be recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that they relate to items 
recognized directly in equity (deficit).  

Current income tax will be the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the 
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

4. NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS AND AMENDMENTS NOT EFFECTIVE

The following standards are not expected to have any significant effect on the Company other than 
increased disclosure:

(a) IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation 

These amendments clarify requirements for offsetting of financial assets and liabilities, and are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014.

(b) IFRS 7, Financial Instruments - Disclosure

These amendments require additional disclosure on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9, and are effective for 
annual period beginning on or after January 1, 2015. 



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

5. RELATED PARTY PAYABLES AND TRANSACTIONS

During the period from incorporation on July 4, 2013 to March 31, 2014, the Company paid or accrued a 
total of $4,000 to its Chief Financial Officer for accounting services.

There were no other amounts paid or accrued for services provided by key management personnel 
during the period ended March 31, 2014.

As at March 31, 2014, the Company is indebted to its Chief Executive Officer in the amount of $61,616 for 
expenses paid on the Company’s behalf. The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing with no 
scheduled terms of repayment. Subsequent to the period ended March 31, 2014, the amount was settled 
in full through issuance of additional common shares of the Company (Note 10).

6. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorized:

Unlimited Class A common voting shares with no par value
Unlimited Class B common voting shares with no par value
Unlimited Class C common non-voting shares with no par value
Unlimited Class D preferred non-voting share with a par value of $0.10 per share

Issued:

During the period ended March 31, 2014, the Company issued a total of 382 Class A common shares on 
incorporation at $0.03 per share for total proceeds of $12.

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Fair Value

Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position are classified using a 
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair 
value hierarchy has the following levels:

a) Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
b) Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly 

or indirectly; and 
c) Level 3 - Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d…)

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A 
financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been 
considered in measuring fair value.

The carrying value of bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related 
party approximated their fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments.

Risk

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a risk management 
framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides information 
about the Company's risk exposure and concentration as of March 31, 2014:

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that another entity will default on its contractual obligations which will result in
a loss for the Company. The Company has no credit risk as of March 31, 2014.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting future obligations with financial 
liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect to finance future growth.

Currency risk

The Company has no currency risk as of March 31, 2014.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a 
change in the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the Company 
manages exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. The Company is not at risk as of 
March 31, 2014.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont’d…)

Capital Management

The Company’s capital includes share capital and the cumulative deficit.  The Company’s objectives 
when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Company manages 
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the 
risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The Company may issue new shares in order to meet its 
financial obligations.

8. INCOME TAXES

A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows:

Period Ended 
March 31, 2014

Loss for the period $                    (77,217)

Expected income tax recovery $                      (20,075) 

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences                            20,075  

Total income tax expense (recovery) $                               -   

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:

March 31, 2014

Deferred income tax assets

Non-capital losses $                        20,100

Total unrecognized deferred income tax asset $                        20,100

The Company has non-capital losses of approximately $77,000 available for deduction against future 
taxable income. These losses, if not utilized, will expire through to 2034. Future tax benefits which may 
arise as a result of these tax assets have not been recognized in these financial statements as it is not 
probable that they will be realized.

Tax attributes are subject to review, and potential adjustment, by tax authorities.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

9. COMMITMENTS

The Company has the following commitments as of March 31, 2014:

(a) Contract with its Chief Financial Officer for services at a rate of $2,000 per month commencing 
on March 1, 2014.

(b) Consulting Agreement dated March 8, 2014 with Hedron Analytical Inc. to act as chair of the 
Company’s Scientific Advisory Board, represent the Company at speaking engagements, provide 
input for website content, strain selection, growing techniques, and provide input on medicinal 
formulations at an agreed-upon hourly fee.

(c) An option to lease land and building in Lumby, BC in return for payment of $2,000 per month for 
a period of 12 months starting on March 27, 2014. The Option Agreement contains provisions for 
cancellation if the Company cannot demonstrate significant progress within four months to the 
satisfaction of the Lessor with respect to the Company's application to Health Canada for 
appropriate licensing for Medical Marijuana Production

10. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the period ended March 31, 2014:

a) The Company received a “Ready to Build” notice from Health Canada in regards to its first license 
application, but it is still being reviewed pending issues with the location and local zoning. In April 
2014, the Company secured a new location and has submitted another application.

b) The Company issued a total of 2,499,618 common shares at $0.03 per share to settle all amounts 
owing to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer.

c) The Company and its sole shareholder (the “Shareholder”) entered into a Share Exchange 
Agreement with True Leaf Investments Corp. (“TL Investments”) whereby TL Investments will acquire 
all of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company by way of share exchange with the 
Shareholder, resulting in the Company becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of TL Investments. The 
Shareholder will transfer all of the Company’s outstanding common shares, totaling 2,500,000, to TL 
Investments in exchange for 25,000,000 common shares of TL Investments.

TL Investments (now consolidated with the Company) will enter into a Plan of Arrangement (Note 
10(d)) whereby it will become the wholly owned subsidiary of True Leaf Medicine International Ltd.
(“TL Medicine International”), which will apply to become a publicly listed entity on the Canadian 
Stock Exchange.



TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

For the Period from Incorporation on July 4, 2013 
to March 31, 2014

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
_____________________________________________________________________________

10. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (cont’d…)

d) The Company, now a wholly-owned subsidiary of TL Investments, entered into an Arrangement 
Agreement for a Plan of Arrangement (the “Arrangement”) with Noor Energy Corporation (“Noor”) and 
TL Medicine International whereby the TL Investments will acquire all of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of TL Medicine International from Noor (the “Purchase Shares”) for the purchase 
price of $20,000, $19,900 of which was paid on signing on the Arrangement Agreement and the 
balance of $100 of which will be payable on closing of the Arrangement. TL Investments and TL 
Medicine International will then complete a share exchange on a 1:1 basis, such that all of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of TL Investments shall be exchanged by their holders for the same 
number of common shares of TL Medicine International. TL Medicine International will then issue 
355,000 of its common shares to Noor (the “Distribution Shares”) in exchange for 5,000 common 
shares of Noor. The Distribution Shares will then be distributed to the shareholders of Noor on a pro-
rated basis according to their shareholdings. The controlling shareholder of Noor has agreed to 
forego 155,000 Distribution Shares he would have received, which will be cancelled immediately 
following the distribution of the Shares to Noor’s shareholders. 

The Purchase Shares will then be cancelled. On closing of the Arrangement, TL Medicine 
International will become a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta, and TL Investments will 
become its wholly-owned subsidiary.
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INTRODUCTION   
This management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (the “MD&A”) 
for True Leaf  Investments Corp.  (“True Leaf” or the “Company”)  is prepared as of  June 9, 2014 and  is 
intended to assist in the understanding and assessment of trends and significant changes in the results 
of operations and financial condition of the Company.  As such, it should be read in conjunction with the 
audited financial statements as at March 31, 2014 and for the period then ended which were prepared 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in Canadian dollars.   
 
 
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 
This  report  contains  certain  statements  related  to  industry  scope  and  state,  production,  revenue, 
expenses, plans, development schedules and similar  items  that represent  forward‐looking statements.  
Such  statements  are  based  on  assumptions  and  estimates  related  to  future  economic  and market 
conditions.    Such  statements  include  declarations  regarding management’s  intent,  belief  or  current 
expectations.    Certain  statements  contained  herein  may  contain  words  such  as  “could”,  “should”, 
“expect”,  believe”,  “will”  and  similar  expressions  and  statements  relating  to  matters  that  are  not 
historical facts but are forward‐looking statements.   Prospective  investors are cautioned that any such 
forward‐looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve a number of risks and 
uncertainties;  actual  results  may  differ  materially  from  those  indicated  by  such  forward‐looking 
statements.  Some of the important factors, but certainly not all, that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those indicated by such forward‐looking statements are: (i) that the information is of a 
preliminary  nature  and  may  be  subject  to  further  adjustment  ,  (ii)  the  possible  unavailability  of 
financing, (iii) start‐up risks, (iv) general operating risks, (v) dependence on third parties, (vi) changes in 
government  regulation,  (vii)  the effects of competition,  (viii) dependence on  senior management,  (ix) 
impact of Canadian economic conditions, and  (x)  fluctuations  in currency exchange  rates and  interest 
rates.    Readers  are  also  referred  to  the  section  “RISKS  AND  UNCERTAINTIES”  contained within  this 
document. 
 
 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 
The Company was incorporated on March 26, 2014 under the Business Corporations Act of the Province 
of British Columbia. The major activity of the Company will be identification and acquisition of a licensed 
producer  of medical marijuana  in  Canada.  The  Company’s  registered  office  is  Suite  1820,  925 West 
Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3L2. 
 
 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 
To date, the Company has not yet realized profitable operations and has relied on financing to fund the 
losses.    The  Company will  need  to  raise  capital  to  satisfy  its  future  operation  needs. The  continued 
operations  of  the  Company  are  dependent  on  its  ability  to  generate  future  cash  flows  or  obtain 
additional funding through private placement financings. Management is of the opinion that it does not 
have sufficient working capital and will require external financing to meet the Company’s liabilities and 
commitments as they become due. 
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
Subsequent to March 31, 2014 the Company reported the following transactions: 
 
The Company completed a private placement financing of 2,950,000 common shares at a price of $0.01 
per share for gross proceeds of $29,500. 
 
The Company completed a private placement financing of 1,666,666 units at a price of $0.03 per unit for 
gross proceeds of $50,000. Each unit consists of one common  share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable at a price of $0.20 for a period of two years from closing of the financing. 
 
The Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement (the “Agreement”) with True Leaf Medicine Inc. 
(“TL Medicine”) and  its sole shareholder  (the “Shareholder”) whereby  the Company will acquire all of 
the  issued  and  outstanding  common  shares  of  TL Medicine  from  the  Shareholder  by way  of  share 
exchange,  resulting  in  TL  Medicine  becoming  a  wholly‐owned  subsidiary  of  the  Company.  The 
Shareholder  will  transfer  all  of  his  2,500,000  common  shares  of  TL  Medicine  to  the  Company  in 
exchange for 25,000,000 common shares of the Company.  
 
Following  completion  of  the  Agreement  on  May  23,  2014,  the  Company  entered  into  a  Plan  of 
Arrangement whereby  it will become  the  subsidiary of an entity  that will apply  to become a publicly 
listed entity on the Canadian Stock Exchange. 
 
The Company completed a private placement financing of 4,200,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for 
gross proceeds of $210,000. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable at a price of $0.20 for a period of two years from closing of the financing. 
 
The Company entered into an Arrangement Agreement for a Plan of Arrangement (the “Arrangement”) 
with  Noor  Energy  Corporation  (“Noor”)  and  True  Leaf  Medicine  International  Ltd.  (“TL  Medicine 
International”) whereby the Company will acquire all of the  issued and outstanding common shares of 
TL Medicine International from Noor (the “Purchase Shares”) for the purchase price of $20,000, $19,900 
of which was paid on signing of the Arrangement Agreement and the balance of $100 of which will be 
payable on closing of the Arrangement. The Company and TL Medicine International will then complete 
a  share  exchange on  a  1:1 basis,  such  that  all of  the  issued  and outstanding  common  shares of  the 
Company shall be exchanged by their holders for the same number of common shares of TL Medicine 
International.  TL Medicine  International will  then  issue  355,000  of  its  common  shares  to Noor  (the 
“Distribution Shares”)  in exchange for 5,000 common shares of Noor. The Distribution Shares will then 
be distributed  to  the shareholders of Noor on a pro‐rated basis according  to  their shareholdings. The 
controlling  shareholder  of  Noor  has  agreed  to  forego  155,000  Distribution  Shares  he  would  have 
received, which will be  cancelled  immediately  following  the distribution of  the Distribution Shares  to 
Noor’s shareholders.  
 
The Purchase Shares will then be cancelled. On closing of the Arrangement, TL Medicine  International 
will become a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta, and the Company will become its wholly‐
owned subsidiary. 
 
 
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
The following table provides a brief summary of the Company’s financial operations.  For more detailed 
information, refer to the Financial Statements. 
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Period Ended 
March 31, 2014

         
Net loss and comprehensive loss    (13,596)
Basic and diluted loss per share    (0.04)
Total assets       1,404
Total long‐term liabilities       ‐   
         

 
 
LIQUITITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
The  Company  has  financed  its  operations  to  date  through  the  issuance  of  common  shares.    The 
Company continues to seek capital through various means including the issuance of privat placement. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company 
will  be  able  realize  its  assets  and  discharge  its  liabilities  in  the  normal  course  of  business  for  the 
foreseeable  future.  The  continuing  operations  of  the  Company  are  dependent  upon  its  ability  to 
continue to raise adequate financing and to commence profitable operations in the future.  
 
 
OFF‐BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENT 
The Company does not have any off‐balance sheet arrangements. 
 
 
CAPITAL STOCK 
On  incorporation, 10 common shares were  issued at $0.01 per share. These shares were subsequently 
cancelled on issuance of 350,000 common shares to the founder of the Company at $0.01 per share for 
total consideration of $3,500. No other common shares were issued during the period ended March 31, 
2014. 

During the period ended March 31, 2014, $6,500 was received for future common share consideration. 
The  amount has been  classified  as  share  subscriptions  received,  and will be  converted  into  common 
shares of the Company at a price of $0.01 per share. 
 
 
COMMITMENTS, LONG‐TERM LIABILITIES AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS 
The Company has no commitments as of March 31, 2014. 
 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position are classified using a 
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the  inputs used  in making the measurements. The 
fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 
 

a) Level 1 ‐ Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
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b) Level  2  ‐  Inputs other  than quoted  prices  that  are observable  for  assets or  liabilities,  either 
directly or indirectly; and  

c) Level 3 ‐ Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 
 
The  fair  value hierarchy  requires  the use of observable market  inputs whenever  such  inputs exist. A 
financial  instrument  is  classified  to  the  lowest  level of  the hierarchy  for which a  significant  input has 
been considered in measuring fair value. 
 
The carrying value of accounts payable and accrued  liabilities approximated their fair value because of 
the short‐term nature of this instrument. 
 
As at March 31, 2014, the Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value are as follows: 

 
 
The Company  is exposed to various risks through  its financial  instruments and has a risk management 
framework  to monitor, evaluate and manage  these  risks. The  following analysis provides  information 
about the Company's risk exposure and concentration as of March 31, 2014: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit  risk  refers  to  the  risk  that  another  entity will default on  its  contractual obligations which will 
result  in a  loss  for the Company. At March 31, 2014, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
was the carrying value of cash. The Company  limits  its credit exposure on cash by holding  its deposits 
mainly with Canadian chartered banks.  
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting future obligations with financial 
liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect to finance future growth. 
 
Currency risk 
 
The Company has no currency risk as of March 31, 2014. 
 
Interest rate risk    
 
Interest  rate  risk  is  the  risk  that  the value of a  financial  instrument might be adversely affected by a 
change  in  the  interest  rates.  In  seeking  to  minimize  the  risks  from  interest  rate  fluctuations,  the 
Company manages exposure through  its normal operating and financing activities. The Company  is not 
at risk as of March 31, 2014. 
 
 
 

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash 1,404$  -$  - $    1,404$   
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
The  Company’s  capital  includes  share  capital  and  the  cumulative  deficit.    The  Company’s  objectives 
when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
continue  to  provide  returns  for  shareholders  and  benefits  for  other  stakeholders.  The  Company 
manages  the  capital  structure  and  makes  adjustments  to  it  in  the  light  of  changes  in  economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The Company may  issue new shares  in 
order to meet its financial obligations. 
 
RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
The IASB intends to replace IAS 39‐Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”) in its 
entirety with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) will be the new standard for financial reporting for 
financial instruments that is principals‐based and less complex and IAS 39. In February, 2014 the IASB set 
January  1,  2018  for  the mandatory  application  of  IFRS  9.  IFRS  9  requires  that  all  financial  assets  be 
classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value based on the Company's business 
model for managing financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 
Financial  liabilities  are  classified  and  subsequently measured  at  amortized  cost  except  for  financial 
liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss, financial guarantees and certain other obligations. 
The extent of the effects of IFRS 9 on the financial statements has not yet been determined. 
 
 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
The  Chief  Executive Officer  (“CEO”)  and  Chief  Financial Officer  (“CFO”)  are  responsible  for  designing 
internal  controls  over  financial  reporting  in  order  to  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with IFRS.  The design of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
was assessed as of the date of this Management Discussion and Analysis. 
 
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Information  provided  in  this  report,  including  the  financial  statements,  is  the  responsibility  of 
management.    In  the preparation of  these statements, estimates are sometimes necessary  to make a 
determination of future value for certain assets or liabilities.  Management believes such estimates have 
been  based  on  careful  judgments  and  have  been  properly  reflected  in  the  accompanying  financial 
statements.  Management maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurances that 
the  Company’s  assets  are  safeguarded  and  to  facilitate  the  preparation  of  relevant  and  timely 
information. 
 
 
RISKS AND UNCERTANINTIES 
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or 
that the terms of such financing will be favorable.  If adequate financing is not available when required, 
the Company may be unable to continue operating.   The Company may seek such additional financing 
through debt or equity offerings, but there can be no assurance that such financing will be available on 
terms acceptable to the Company or at all.  Any equity offering, will result in dilution to the ownership 
interests of the Company’s shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of such interests. 
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The Company has sufficient funds to cover anticipated administration expenses throughout the current 
fiscal  year.  The Company’s management  is now  focused on  raising  additional  fund  to  through privat 
placement 
 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Company's Board of Director's and its committees substantially follow the recommended corporate 
governance guidelines for public companies to ensure transparency and accountability to shareholders. 
The current Board is comprised of four individuals one of whom is an Executive Officer of the Company. 
The  Company  has  established  a  Scientific  Advisory  Board  headed  by  a  world‐renowned  expert  on 
marijuana  science. The Company plans  to  form  an Audit Committee which will be  comprised of  two 
individuals one of whom is an Executive Officer of the Company. 
 
 
 



 

#109089-11 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
 

SCHEDULE “D” 

TL Medicine Management’s Discussion and Analysis  

for the period ended March 31, 2014  

[inserted as pages following] 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

True Leaf Medicine Inc. 
 

Management Discussion & Analysis 
 

March 31, 2014 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



FS‐2 
 

INTRODUCTION 
This management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (the “MD&A”) 
for  True  Leaf Medicine  Inc.  (“True  Leaf”  or  the  “Company”)  is  prepared  as  of  June  9,  2014  and  is 
intended to assist in the understanding and assessment of trends and significant changes in the results 
of operations and financial condition of the Company.  As such, it should be read in conjunction with the 
audited financial statements as at March 31, 2014 and for the period then ended which were prepared 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in Canadian dollars.   
 
 
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 
This  report  contains  certain  statements  related  to  industry  scope  and  state,  production,  revenue, 
expenses, plans, development schedules and similar  items  that represent  forward‐looking statements.  
Such  statements  are  based  on  assumptions  and  estimates  related  to  future  economic  and market 
conditions.    Such  statements  include  declarations  regarding management’s  intent,  belief  or  current 
expectations.    Certain  statements  contained  herein  may  contain  words  such  as  “could”,  “should”, 
“expect”,  believe”,  “will”  and  similar  expressions  and  statements  relating  to  matters  that  are  not 
historical facts but are forward‐looking statements.   Prospective  investors are cautioned that any such 
forward‐looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve a number of risks and 
uncertainties;  actual  results  may  differ  materially  from  those  indicated  by  such  forward‐looking 
statements.  Some of the important factors, but certainly not all, that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those indicated by such forward‐looking statements are: (i) that the information is of a 
preliminary  nature  and  may  be  subject  to  further  adjustment  ,  (ii)  the  possible  unavailability  of 
financing, (iii) start‐up risks, (iv) general operating risks, (v) dependence on third parties, (vi) changes in 
government  regulation,  (vii)  the effects of competition,  (viii) dependence on  senior management,  (ix) 
impact of Canadian economic conditions, and  (x)  fluctuations  in currency exchange  rates and  interest 
rates.    Readers  are  also  referred  to  the  section  “RISKS  AND  UNCERTAINTIES”  contained within  this 
document. 
 
 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 
True  Leaf  Medicine  Inc.  (the  “Company”)  was  incorporated  on  July  4,  2013  under  the  Business 
Corporations Act of  the Province of British Columbia.  The major  activity of  the Company will be  the 
production and sale of medical marijuana in Canada. The Company’s registered office is PO Box 49290, 
1000 ‐ 595 Burrard Street, Vancouver, BC  V7X 1S8.  
 
Subsequent to the period ended March 31, 2014, the Company split its share capital on the basis of 
3.179 new common shares for 1 old share. All common shares, per share, and weighted average price 
amounts have been restated in these financial statements to reflect this share split 
 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 
To date, the Company has not yet realized profitable operations and has relied on financing to fund the 
losses.    The  Company will  need  to  raise  capital  to  satisfy  its  future  operation  needs.  The  continued 
operations  of  the  Company  are  dependent  on  its  ability  to  generate  future  cash  flows  or  obtain 
additional funding through private placement financings. Management is of the opinion that it does not 
have sufficient working capital and will require external financing to meet the Company’s liabilities and 
commitments as they become due. 
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For the period from  incorporation on July 4, 2013 to March 31, 2014 the Company  incurred a net  loss 
and comprehensive  loss of $77,205. The current  loss  is primarily attributed  to $19,735  in accounting, 
audit fees and legal fees, and $40,750 in consulting fees. 
 
 
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
Subsequent to the period ended March 31, 2014, the Company reported the following transactions: 
 
The  Company  received  a  “Ready  to  Build”  notice  from  Health  Canada  in  regards  to  its  first  license 
application, but it is still being reviewed pending issues with the location and local zoning. In April 2014, 
the Company secured a new location and has submitted another application. 
 
The Company issued a total of 2,499,618 common shares at $0.03 per share to settle all amounts owing 
to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. 
 
The Company and  its sole shareholder  (the “Shareholder”) entered  into a Share Exchange Agreement 
with  True  Leaf  Investments  Corp.  (“TL  Investments”) whereby  TL  Investments will  acquire  all  of  the 
issued and outstanding common shares of the Company by way of share exchange with the Shareholder, 
resulting  in the Company becoming a wholly‐owned subsidiary of TL Investments. The Shareholder will 
transfer  all  of  the  Company’s  outstanding  common  shares,  totaling  2,500,000,  to  TL  Investments  in 
exchange for 25,000,000 common shares of TL Investments.  
 
TL Investments (now consolidated with the Company) will enter into a Plan of Arrangement (Note 10(d)) 
whereby  it  will  become  the  wholly  owned  subsidiary  of  True  Leaf Medicine  International  Ltd.  (“TL 
Medicine  International”), which will  apply  to  become  a  publicly  listed  entity  on  the  Canadian  Stock 
Exchange. 
 
The  Company,  now  a  wholly‐owned  subsidiary  of  TL  Investments,  entered  into  an  Arrangement 
Agreement for a Plan of Arrangement (the “Arrangement”) with Noor Energy Corporation (“Noor”) and 
TL Medicine  International whereby  the TL  Investments will  acquire  all of  the  issued  and outstanding 
common shares of TL Medicine International from Noor (the “Purchase Shares”) for the purchase price 
of $20,000, $19,900 of which was paid on signing on the Arrangement Agreement and the balance of 
$100  of  which  will  be  payable  on  closing  of  the  Arrangement.  TL  Investments  and  TL  Medicine 
International  will  then  complete  a  share  exchange  on  a  1:1  basis,  such  that  all  of  the  issued  and 
outstanding common shares of TL Investments shall be exchanged by their holders for the same number 
of common shares of TL Medicine International. TL Medicine International will then issue 355,000 of its 
common shares to Noor (the “Distribution Shares”) in exchange for 5,000 common shares of Noor. The 
Distribution Shares will then be distributed to the shareholders of Noor on a pro‐rated basis according 
to  their shareholdings. The controlling shareholder of Noor has agreed  to  forego 155,000 Distribution 
Shares, which will  be  cancelled  immediately  following  the  distribution  of  the  Distribution  Shares  to 
Noor’s shareholders.  
 
The Purchase Shares will then be cancelled. On closing of the Arrangement, TL Medicine  International 
will  become  a  reporting  issuer  in  British  Columbia  and  Alberta,  and  TL  Investments will  become  its 
wholly‐owned subsidiary. 
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
The following table provides a brief summary of the Company’s financial operations.  For more detailed 
information, refer to the Financial Statements. 
 

 

Period Ended 
March 31, 2014

         
Net loss and comprehensive loss    (77,217)
Basic and diluted loss per share    (202.14)
Total assets       4,000
Total liabilities       81,205 
         

 
 
LIQUITITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
The Company has financed its operations to date through shareholders loans.  The Company continues 
to seek capital through various means including the issuance of equity and or debt. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company 
will  be  able  realize  its  assets  and  discharge  its  liabilities  in  the  normal  course  of  business  for  the 
foreseeable  future.  The  continuing  operations  of  the  Company  are  dependent  upon  its  ability  to 
continue to raise adequate financing and to commence profitable operations in the future.  
 
 
OFF‐BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENT 
The Company does not have any off‐balance sheet arrangements. 
 
 
CAPITAL STOCK 
During the period ended March 31, 2014, the Company issued a total of 382 Class A common shares on 
incorporation at $0.03 per share for total proceeds of $12 
 
 
COMMITMENTS, LONG‐TERM LIABILITIES AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS 
The Company has the following commitments as of March 31, 2014: 

 
(a) Contract  with  its  Chief  Financial  Officer  for  services  at  a  rate  of  $2,000  per month 

commencing on March 1, 2014. 
 
(b) Consulting Agreement dated March 8, 2014 with Hedron Analytical Inc. to act as chair of 

the  Company’s  Scientific  Advisory  Board,  represent  the  Company  at  speaking 
engagements, provide  input  for website content, strain selection, growing  techniques, 
and provide input on medicinal formulations at an agreed‐upon hourly fee. 
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(c) An option to  lease  land and building  in Lumby, BC  in return for payment of $2,000 per 
month  for a period of 12 months starting on March 27, 2014. The Option Agreement 
contains  provisions  for  cancellation  if  the  Company  cannot  demonstrate  significant 
progress  within  four  months  to  the  satisfaction  of  the  Lessor  with  respect  to  the 
Company's application to Health Canada for appropriate licensing for Medical Marijuana 
Production. 

 
 
 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position are classified using a 
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the  inputs used  in making the measurements. The 
fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 
 

a) Level 1 ‐ Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
b) Level  2  ‐  Inputs other  than quoted  prices  that  are observable  for  assets or  liabilities,  either 

directly or indirectly; and  
c) Level 3 ‐ Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 

 
The  fair  value hierarchy  requires  the use of observable market  inputs whenever  such  inputs exist. A 
financial  instrument  is  classified  to  the  lowest  level of  the hierarchy  for which a  significant  input has 
been considered in measuring fair value. 
 
The carrying value of accounts payable and accrued  liabilities approximated their fair value because of 
the short‐term nature of this instrument. 
 
The Company  is exposed to various risks through  its financial  instruments and has a risk management 
framework  to monitor, evaluate and manage  these  risks. The  following analysis provides  information 
about the Company's risk exposure and concentration as of March 31, 2014: 
 
Risk 
 
Credit risk 
Credit  risk  refers  to  the  risk  that  another  entity will default on  its  contractual obligations which will 
result  in a  loss  for the Company. At March 31, 2014, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
was the carrying value of cash. The Company  limits  its credit exposure on cash by holding  its deposits 
mainly with Canadian chartered banks.  
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting future obligations with financial 
liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect to finance future growth. 
 
Currency risk 
The Company has no currency risk as of March 31, 2014. 
 
Interest rate risk    
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Interest  rate  risk  is  the  risk  that  the value of a  financial  instrument might be adversely affected by a 
change  in  the  interest  rates.  In  seeking  to  minimize  the  risks  from  interest  rate  fluctuations,  the 
Company manages exposure through  its normal operating and financing activities. The Company  is not 
at risk as of March 31, 2014. 
 
 
 
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
The  Company’s  capital  includes  share  capital  and  the  cumulative  deficit.    The  Company’s  objectives 
when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
continue  to  provide  returns  for  shareholders  and  benefits  for  other  stakeholders.  The  Company 
manages  the  capital  structure  and  makes  adjustments  to  it  in  the  light  of  changes  in  economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The Company may  issue new shares  in 
order to meet its financial obligations. 
 
RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
The IASB intends to replace IAS 39‐Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”) in its 
entirety with IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) will be the new standard for financial reporting for 
financial instruments that is principals‐based and less complex and IAS 39. In February, 2014 the IASB set 
January  1,  2018  for  the mandatory  application  of  IFRS  9.  IFRS  9  requires  that  all  financial  assets  be 
classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value based on the Company's business 
model for managing financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. 
Financial  liabilities  are  classified  and  subsequently measured  at  amortized  cost  except  for  financial 
liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss, financial guarantees and certain other obligations. 
The extent of the effects of IFRS 9 on the financial statements has not yet been determined. 
 
 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
The  Chief  Executive Officer  (“CEO”)  and  Chief  Financial Officer  (“CFO”)  are  responsible  for  designing 
internal  controls  over  financial  reporting  in  order  to  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with IFRS.  The design of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
was assessed as of the date of this Management Discussion and Analysis. 
 
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Information  provided  in  this  report,  including  the  financial  statements,  is  the  responsibility  of 
management.    In  the preparation of  these statements, estimates are sometimes necessary  to make a 
determination of future value for certain assets or liabilities.  Management believes such estimates have 
been  based  on  careful  judgments  and  have  been  properly  reflected  in  the  accompanying  financial 
statements.  Management maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurances that 
the  Company’s  assets  are  safeguarded  and  to  facilitate  the  preparation  of  relevant  and  timely 
information. 
 
 
RISKS AND UNCERTANINTIES 
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or 
that the terms of such financing will be favorable.  If adequate financing is not available when required, 
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the Company may be unable to continue operating.   The Company may seek such additional financing 
through debt or equity offerings, but there can be no assurance that such financing will be available on 
terms acceptable to the Company or at all.  Any equity offering, will result in dilution to the ownership 
interests of the Company’s shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of such interests. 
 
These financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary should the 
Company be unable to continue as a going concern and, therefore, be required to realize its assets and 
discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those 
reflected in the accompanying financial statements. 
 
 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Company's Board of Director's and its committees substantially follow the recommended corporate 
governance guidelines for public companies to ensure transparency and accountability to shareholders. 
The current Board is comprised of four individuals one of whom is an Executive Officer of the Company. 
The  Company  has  established  a  Scientific  Advisory  Board  headed  by  a  world‐renowned  expert  on 
marijuana  science. The Company plans  to  form  an Audit Committee which will be  comprised of  two 
individuals one of whom is an Executive Officer of the Company. 
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TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

(Unaudited) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

        

     
September 30,            

2014   

 
 

March 31, 
2014 

Assets        

        

Current assets        

   Cash     $ 139,301  $ 1,404  

   Prepaid expenses         40,150    -  

Total current assets     179,451   1,404  

        

Non-current assets        

   Website development         9,405    -  

Total assets         188,856    1,404  

        

Liabilities and shareholders' equity (deficit)      

        

Current liabilities        

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    105,932   5,000  

   Due to related party (Note 5)     76,329   -  

Total liabilities         182,261    5,000   

        

Shareholders' equity (deficit)        

        

Share subscriptions received (Note 4)    -   6,500  

Share capital (Note 6)     1,359,255   3,500  

Reserves     21,600   -  

Deficit     (1,374,260)  (13,596) 

Total shareholders' equity (deficit)         6,595    (3,596) 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity (deficit)   $ 188,856  $ 1,404  

        

Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1)     
Commitments (Note 8) 
Plan of Arrangement (Note 9) 
      

        
Approval on behalf of the Board of Directors on November 30, 
2014     

        

        

"Kevin Bottomley" Director  "Darcy Bomford"   Director  

        
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.  



 

 

TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Consolidated Interim Statement of Comprehensive Loss 

(Unaudited) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

        
 

       Three month  Six month 

       ended ended 

       September 30, 2014 September 30, 2014 

Operating Expenses    

   Accounting and legal (Note 5) $ 121,062 256,460 

   Administration costs  70,552 90,994 

   Advertising and marketing  29,895 32,250 

   Consulting fees (Note 5)  35,122 81,915 

   Research and development  20,455 20,705 

    

Loss from operating expenses   (277,086) (482,324) 

         

  Transaction costs (Note 4)  - (878,340) 

         

         

Loss and comprehensive loss for the period $ (277,086) (1,360,664) 

         

         

Loss per common shares - basic and diluted                          (0.01) (0.09) 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding                   36,136,666 15,953,699  

 
No comparative financial information has been included in the above statements as the Company was incorporated on March 
26,2014. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Consolidated Interim Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit) 

(Unaudited) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

  
 
     

 
 

 
Number of 

Shares 

Share 
Subscriptions 

Received 
Share 

Capital 

 
 

Reserves Deficit 

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity (Deficit) 

       
Balance, March 26, 2014 -        $               -   $                -  $                 -  $                 -        $                   -  

 
Incorporation shares issued 10                        -   1                     -                     -  1  
 
Incorporation shares cancelled (10)                       -  (1)                    -                     -  (1) 
 
Founder’s shares issued 350,000            -  3,500                     -                     -  3,500  
 
Share subscription received -             6,500  -                     -                     -  6,500  
 
Loss for the period -                      -  -                     -  (13,596) (13,596) 

 
Balance, March 31, 2014 350,000  $       6,500  $         3,500  $                 -  $     (13,596) $          (3,596) 

 

Shares issued on acquisition of TLM 25,000,000            - 750,000                    -                    -  750,000  
 
Finder’s shares issued on acquisition of TLM 550,000            - 

 
16,500                    -                    -  

 
16,500  

 
Private placement, net of share issue costs 10,236,666             (6,500) 

 
589,255  21,600                    -  604,355  

   
Loss for the period -                      - -  

 
-  (1,360,664) (1,360,664) 

 
Balance, September 30, 2014 36,136,666        $               -  $  1,359,255  

 
$   21,600                               $(1,374,260) $        6,595  

 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.



TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
 Consolidated Interim Statement of Cash Flows 

(Unaudited) 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

              

       

      
Six months ended 

September 30, 2014 
Operating activities       
   Loss for the period    $ (1,360,664) 
   Item not affecting cash:      
        Transaction costs     878,340  
   Changes in non-cash working capital items:      
        Prepaid expenses    (36,150) 
        Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                   61,688  
        Due to related party     (287) 

Net cash used In operating activities         (457,053) 

 
Investing activities       
        Website development      (9,405) 

Net cash used In investing activities         (9,405) 

 
       
Financing activities       
        Private placements, net of share issue costs     604,355  

Net cash provided by financing activities       604,355  

 
Net increase in cash     $ 137,897  
Cash, beginning of period          1,404  

Cash, end of period         $ 139,301  

 
During the six month period ended September 30, 2014, the Company issued 25,000,000 common shares in accordance with 
a Share Exchange Agreement to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of True Leaf Medicine Inc. – see Note 4 for 
additional details.  The Company also issued 550,000 common shares as finders' fees associated with completion of the Share 
Exchange Agreement. 
 
During the six month period ended September 30, 2014, the Company issued 142,000 broker warrants with a fair value of 
$21,600 in association with a financing completed. 
 
The Company had no other non-cash investing or financing activities during the period. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.



 

TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Period Ended September 30, 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 
 

True Leaf Investments Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated on March 26, 2014 under the Business 
Corporations Act of the Province of British Columbia. The Company is seeking to become a licensed 
producer of medical marijuana under Canada's Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations. The 
Company’s registered office is Suite 1820, 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3L2. 
 
During the six month period ended September 30, 2014, the Company completed a Share Exchange 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with True Leaf Medicine Inc. (“TLM”) in which the Company issued 
25,000,000 common shares valued at $750,000 for all of the outstanding common shares of TLM (Note 4). 
 
(a) Going Concern  
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes 
that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of 
business. For the six month period ended September 30, 2014, the Company incurred a loss of $1,360,664 
and has not earned any revenues since inception. The continued operations of the Company are dependent 
on its ability to generate future cash flows or obtain additional funding through private placement financings. 
Management is of the opinion that it does not have sufficient working capital to fund future operations and 
will require external financing. There is a risk that financing will not be available on a timely basis or on 
terms acceptable to the Company. These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments which would be necessary 
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and, therefore, be required to realize its 
assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from 
those reflected in the accompanying financial statements. 

 

 
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

(a) Statement of Compliance 
 
The consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International 
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34, Interim Financial Reporting, using the same accounting policies as detailed 
in the Company‘s annual audited financial statements for the period ended March 31, 2014, and do not 
include all the information required for full annual financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
("IASB") and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC"). It 
is suggested that the interim financial statements be read in conjunction with the annual audited financial 
statements.  
 
 
 

  



 

 

TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Period Ended September 30, 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont'd...) 
 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 
Company and its controlled subsidiary.  Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its direct wholly-owned 
subsidiary TLM, a Canadian company. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been 
eliminated. 
 
These financial statements were authorized for issue by its Directors on November 30, 2014. 

 
(b) Basis of Measurement and Use of Estimates 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments which are measured at fair value. All amounts on the interim financial statements are 
presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the Company and its controlled subsidiary. 
 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, judgments 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of expenses during the period. These estimates are, by their nature, 
uncertain. The impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout the financial statements, and may 
require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. These estimates are based on current and future economic conditions and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has 
made at the reporting date that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the 
following: 
 
i) fair values of financial instruments; and 
ii) deferred income taxes.  

 
 
3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
Financial instruments 

Financial instruments consist of financial assets and financial liabilities and are initially recognized at fair 
value net of transaction costs, if applicable. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on whether the 
financial instrument has been classified as “fair value through profit or loss,” “loans and receivables,” 
“available-for-sale,” “held-to-maturity,” or “financial liabilities measured at amortized cost” as follows: 



 

TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Period Ended September 30, 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd...) 
 
Financial instruments (cont'd...) 

i) Financial assets 

Financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value with unrealized 
gains and losses recognized in net loss for the period in which such gains or losses occur. The Company’s 
cash is classified as fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables and held-to-maturity are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate method. Under this method, all cash flows from these instruments are 
discounted, where material, to their present value.  Over time, this present value is accreted to the future 
value of remaining cash flows, and this accretion is recorded as interest income. The Company does not 
hold any financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables and no financial assets have been 
classified as held-to-maturity. 

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses 
recognized in other comprehensive income except for losses in value that are considered other than 
temporary. Upon disposal of an available-for-sale financial asset, any accumulated other comprehensive 
income or loss at the time of disposal is recognized in profit or loss. The Company does not hold any 
financial assets that have been classified as available-for-sale by the Company. 

Transaction costs associated with fair value through profit or loss financial assets are expensed as incurred, 
while transaction costs associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount 
of the asset. 

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be 
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets.  

ii) Financial liabilities 

For financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
rate method, all cash flows from these instruments are discounted, where material, to their present value.  
Over time, this present value is accreted to the future value of remaining cash flows, and this accretion is 
recorded as interest expense. The Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as 
financial liabilities measured at amortized cost, but as the terms of payment are generally of short duration, 
they are recorded at present value as the impact of discounting is immaterial. 
 

  Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and/or with original maturities of three months or 
less. As at September 30, 2014 and March 31, 2014, the Company did not hold any cash equivalents. 

 
  



 

TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Period Ended September 30, 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd...) 
 
 Share capital 
 

Common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of common 
shares, warrants and stock options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
Common shares issued for consideration other than cash are valued based on their market value at the 
date the shares are issued.  
 
The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and 
warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the more 
easily measurable component based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily 
measurable component. The Company considers the fair value of common shares issued in the private 
placements to be the more easily measurable component and the common shares are valued at their 
estimated fair value. The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached warrants. Any fair value attributed to 
the warrants is recorded as contributed surplus.  
 

 Loss per share 
 

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing 
the loss attributable to equity shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares issued and outstanding during the period.  Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the loss 
attributable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for 
the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares.  The calculation of diluted loss per share assumes that 
the proceeds to be received on the exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants are used to repurchase 
common shares at the average market price during the period. 

 
 Income taxes 
 

Income tax expense consists of current and deferred tax expense.  Income tax expense is recognized in 
the statement of comprehensive loss.  Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable 
income for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, adjusted for 
amendments to tax payable with regards to previous periods. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deferred tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax 
bases.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted or substantively enacted tax 
rates expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability settled.  The effect on deferred tax assets 
and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that substantive enactment 
occurs. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the asset can be utilized.  To the extent that the Company does not consider it probable that 
a deferred tax asset will be recovered, the deferred tax asset is reduced. 

 
Certain pronouncements have been issued by the IASB or IFRIC that are effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2014. Many of these updates are not applicable or consequential to the 
Company and have been excluded from the discussion below.  
 
 
 

  



 

TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Period Ended September 30, 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd...) 
 

 Income taxes (cont'd...) 
 
Tentatively effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017  
 
• New standard IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  

 
IFRS 9 adds new requirements for impairment of financial assets and makes changes to the 
classification and measurement of financial instruments. When complete, IFRS 9 will replace IAS 
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement  
 

The Company has initially assessed that there will be no material reporting changes as a result of adopting 
the new standard; however, there will be enhanced disclosure requirements. 
 

4. SHARE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT – TRUE LEAF MEDICINE INC.   

During the six month period ended September 30, 2014, pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, the 
Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of TLM by issuing 25,000,000 common 
shares representing one common share of the Company for every ten common shares of TLM.   
 
The net liabilities of TLM were assessed as at the Agreement date (May 23, 2014) at $111,840.  
 
This transaction has been accounted for as an acquisition of net assets (liabilities), rather than a business 
combination, as the net assets (liabilities) acquired did not represent a separate business operation. 
 

 The net liabilities of TLM acquired are as follows:  
 

   
TLM as at 

May 23, 
2014 

   

Prepaid expenses  $ 9,000 

Bank indebtedness   (13,544) 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   (30,680) 

Due to related party   (76,616) 

 
Net liabilities  

 
$ (111,840) 

 
On completion of the Agreement, the Company recognized transaction costs of $878,340 associated with 
the acquisition of TLM, representing the fair value of the common shares issued, 550,000 common shares 
valued at $16,500 issued as finders' shares, as well as the net liabilities assumed on execution of the 
Agreement. 

  



 

TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Period Ended September 30, 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

5. RELATED PARTY PAYABLES AND TRANSACTIONS 
 

During the six month period ending September 30, 2014, the Company: 
 
1. Paid or accrued a total of $12,000 to its Chief Financial Officer for accounting services; and 

2. Paid or accrued a total of $20,000 to directors and officers for consulting services. 

As at September 30, 2014, the Company is indebted to its Chief Executive Officer in the amount of $76,330 
for expenses paid on the Company’s behalf. The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing with no 
scheduled terms of repayment.  
 

6. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

Authorized: 
 
Unlimited Common voting shares with no par value 
Unlimited Preferred non-voting share with no par value 
 
Issued: 

On incorporation, 10 common shares were issued at $0.01 per share. These shares were subsequently 
cancelled on issuance of 350,000 common shares to the founder of the Company at $0.01 per share for 
total consideration of $3,500 during the period ended March 31, 2014.  

During the period ended September 30, 2014, the Company: 
 

1. Completed a private placement by issuing 2,950,000 common shares at a price of $0.01 per share for 
gross proceeds of $29,500; 

2. Completed a private placement by issuing 1,666,666 units at a price of $0.03 per unit for gross proceeds 
of $50,000. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one share purchase warrant. Each 
warrant is exercisable into an additional common share at $0.20 per share for a period of two years. 
No value was assigned to the warrants issued as part of the unit offering completed; 

3. Completed a private placement by issuing 4,200,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross proceeds 
of $210,000. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one share purchase warrant. Each 
warrant is exercisable into an additional common share at $0.20 per share for a period of two years. 
No value was assigned to the warrants issued as part of the unit offering completed; 

4. Completed a private placement by issuing 1,420,000 units at a price of $0.25 per unit for gross proceeds 
of $355,000. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one half of one share purchase warrant. 
Each warrant is exercisable into an additional common share at $0.40 per share for a period of two 
years. No value was assigned to the warrants issued as part of the unit offering completed; 

5. Issued 25,000,000 with a fair value of $750,000 in accordance with the Share Exchange Agreement 
described in Note 4; and 

6.  Issued 550,000 common shares with a fair value of $16,500 as finder’s shares associated with the 

Share Exchange Agreement described in Note 4. 

The Company incurred $36,150 in cash share issue costs associated with the financings completed during 
the three month period ended September 30, 2014. In addition, the Company issued 142,000 broker’s 
warrants exercisable at $0.25 per warrant with a term of two years. The fair value of the warrants was 
estimated at $21,600 using the Black Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: term of 
2 years, expected volatility of 120%, risk free rate of 1.21% and expected dividends of $nil. 

  



 

TRUE LEAF INVESTMENTS CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Period Ended September 30, 2014 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

6. SHARE CAPITAL (cont'd...) 
 

 Warrants 
 
 Warrant transactions are summarized as follows: 
 

  
 
 

Number 
of Warrants 

 
Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

   
Balance, March 31, 2014  - $ - 
 Warrants and broker warrants issued  6,718,666  0.22 

   
Balance, September 30, 2014   6,718,666 $ 0.20 

 
 As at September 30, 2014 the following warrants are outstanding: 
 

 
 

Number Exercise 
  

 of Warrants Price ( $ )  Expiry Date 

     

Warrants 1,666,666 0.20  May 6, 2016 

Warrants 4,200,000 0.20  May 25, 2016 

Warrants 710,000 0.40  June 24, 2016 

Broker warrants 142,000 0.25  June 24, 2016 

 6,718,666    

 
7.       FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

Fair Value 

 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position are classified using a fair 
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels: 
 

a) Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
 

b) Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for assets or liabilities, either directly 
or indirectly; and  
 

c) Level 3 - Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 
 

The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A 
financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been 
considered in measuring fair value. 
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7.       FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (cont'd...) 

 

Fair Value (cont'd...) 
 
The carrying value of accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related party approximates their 
fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments. 

 
As at September 30, 2014, the Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value are as follows: 

 
 

Risk 

 
The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a risk management 
framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides information about 
the Company's risk exposure and concentration as of September 30, 2014: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that another entity will default on its contractual obligations which will result in 
a loss for the Company. At September 30, 2014, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk was the 
carrying value of cash. The Company limits its credit exposure on cash by holding its deposits mainly with 
Canadian chartered banks.  

 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting future obligations with financial 
liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect to finance future growth. 
 
Currency risk 
 
The Company has no currency risk as of September 30, 2014. 
 
Interest rate risk    
 

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change 
in the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risk from interest rate fluctuations, the Company manages 
exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. The Company is not at risk as of September 
30, 2014. 

 

Capital Management 

 
The Company’s capital includes share capital and the cumulative deficit.  The Company’s objectives when 
managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The Company manages the capital 
structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. The Company may issue new shares in order to meet its financial 
obligations.  

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Cash 139,301 $   

 
- $                       - $                   139,301 $          
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8. COMMITMENTS 
 
 The Company has the following commitments as of September 30, 2014: 
 

1. On May 20, 2014, the Company entered into a contractual agreement with its Chief Financial Officer 
whereby the Company will pay or accrue $2,000 per month for accounting and financial reporting 
services rendered. 

2. On March 27, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement to lease a property located in Lumby BC 
for purposes of its future medical marijuana production. The option agreement has an initial term of 12 
months at a rate of $2,000 per month commencing April 1, 2014. The owner of the property has the 
right to cancel the option to lease within 30 days notice if no significant progress or feedback is shown 
in regards to the Company’s medical marijuana license application. 

3. On June 1, 2014, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with its Controller whereby the 
Company will pay or accrue a maximum of $6,500 per month for accounting and financial reporting 
services rendered. 

4. On June 20, 2014, the Company entered into a consulting agreement commencing April 1, 2014 

whereby the Company will pay or accrue $4,000 per month for public relations and communication 

strategy services rendered.  

5. On June 20, 2014, the Company entered into a one year consulting agreement commencing April 1, 

2014 whereby the Company will pay or accrue $5,000 per month for branding and marketing strategy 

services rendered. 

6. On June 20, 2014, the Company entered into a consulting agreement commencing February 28, 2014 

whereby the Company will pay or accrue a maximum of $4,000 per month for strategic marketing and 

special project services.  

7. On August 11, 2014, the Company entered into a six-month consulting agreement with an arm’s length 

company. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will pay $5,000 per month and issue 80,000 

common shares per month for assistance pertaining to the Company’s efforts in acquiring a medical 

marijuana license. In addition, $75,000 will be payable upon obtaining a right to build permit from Health 

Canada. A final $75,000 payment will be required upon final license approval from Health Canada. 

 
 
9. PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT 
 
 The Company entered into an Arrangement Agreement and Plan of Arrangement (the “Arrangement”) with 

Noor Energy Corporation (“Noor”) and True Leaf Medicine International Ltd. (“TL Medicine International”) 
whereby the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of TL Medicine 
International from Noor (the “Purchase Shares”) for the purchase price of $20,000, $19,900 of which was 
paid on signing of the Arrangement and the balance of $100 of which will be payable on closing of the 
Arrangement. The Company and TL Medicine International will then complete a share exchange on a 1:1 
basis, such that all of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company shall be exchanged by 
their holders for the same number of common shares of TL Medicine International. TL Medicine 
International will then issue 355,000 of its common shares to Noor (the “Distribution Shares”) in exchange 
for 5,000 common shares of Noor. 

 
 The Distribution Shares will then be distributed to the shareholders of Noor on a pro-rated basis according 

to their shareholdings. The controlling shareholder of Noor has agreed to forego 155,000  
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9. PLAN OF ARRANGEMENT (cont’d…) 
 

Distribution Shares he would have received, which will be cancelled immediately following the distribution 
of the TL Medicine International common shares to Noor’s shareholders.  

 
 The Purchase Shares will then be cancelled. On closing of the Arrangement, TL Medicine International will 

become a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta, and the Company will become its wholly-owned 
subsidiary. 
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INTRODUCTION  
This management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (the “MD&A”) 
for True Leaf Investments Corp (“True Leaf” or the “Company”) is prepared as of August 25, 2014 and is 
intended to assist in the understanding and assessment of trends and significant changes in the results of 
operations and financial condition of the Company.  As such, it should be read in conjunction with the 
condensed consolidated interim financial statements as at September 30, 2014 and for the period then 
ended which were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
All dollar figures included therein and in the following MD&A are quoted in Canadian dollars.   
 
 
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 
This report contains certain statements related to industry scope and state, production, revenue, 
expenses, plans, development schedules and similar items that represent forward-looking statements.  
Such statements are based on assumptions and estimates related to future economic and market 
conditions.  Such statements include declarations regarding management’s intent, belief or current 
expectations.  Certain statements contained herein may contain words such as “could”, “should”, 
“expect”, believe”, “will” and similar expressions and statements relating to matters that are not historical 
facts but are forward-looking statements.  Prospective investors are cautioned that any such forward-
looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve a number of risks and 
uncertainties; actual results may differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking 
statements.  Some of the important factors, but certainly not all, that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements are: (i) that the information is of a 
preliminary nature and may be subject to further adjustment , (ii) the possible unavailability of financing, 
(iii) start-up risks, (iv) general operating risks, (v) dependence on third parties, (vi) changes in government 
regulation, (vii) the effects of competition, (viii) dependence on senior management, (ix) impact of 
Canadian economic conditions, and (x) fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates.  Readers 
are also referred to the section “RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES” contained within this document. 
 
 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 
True Leaf Investment Corp. (the “Company”) was incorporated on March 26, 2014 under the Business 
Corporations Act of the Province of British Columbia. The Company is seeking to become a licensed 

producer of medical marijuana under Canada’s Marihuana for Medical Purposes Regulations.. The 
Company’s registered office is Suite 1820, 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 3L2. 
 
 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 
To date, the Company has not yet realized profitable operations and has relied on financing to fund the 
losses.  The Company will need to raise capital to satisfy its future operation needs. The continued 
operations of the Company are dependent on its ability to generate future cash flows or obtain additional 
funding through private placement financings. Management is of the opinion that it does not have 
sufficient working capital and will require external financing to meet the Company’s liabilities and 
commitments as they become due. 
 
 
 
 



EVENTS  
The Company completed a private placement financing of 2,950,000 common shares at a price of $0.01 
per share for gross proceeds of $29,500. 
 
The Company completed a private placement financing of 1,666,666 units at a price of $0.03 per unit for 
gross proceeds of $50,000. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable at a price of $0.20 for a period of two years from closing of the financing. 
 
The Company entered into a Share Exchange Agreement (the “Agreement”) with True Leaf Medicine Inc. 
(“TL Medicine”) and its sole shareholder (the “Shareholder”) whereby the Company acquired all of the 
issued and outstanding common shares of TL Medicine from the Shareholder by way of share exchange, 
resulting in TL Medicine becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Shareholder 
transferred all of his 2,500,000 common shares of TL Medicine to the Company in exchange for 25,000,000 
common shares of the Company. The net liabilities of TL Medicine were assessed as at the agreement 
date (May 23, 2014) at $111,840. On completion of the agreement, the Company recognized transaction 
costs of $878,340 associated with the acquisition of TL Medicine, representing the fair value of the 
common shares issued, 550,000 common shares valued at $16,500 issued as finder’s shares, as well as 
the net liabilities assumed on execution of the agreement. 
 
Following completion of the Agreement on May 23, 2014, the Company entered into a Plan of 
Arrangement whereby it will become the subsidiary of an entity that will apply to become a publicly listed 
entity on the Canadian Stock Exchange. 
 
The Company completed a private placement financing of 4,200,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for 
gross proceeds of $210,000. Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase warrant 
exercisable at a price of $0.20 for a period of two years from closing of the financing. 
 
The Company entered into an Arrangement Agreement and Plan of Arrangement (the “Arrangement”) 
with Noor Energy Corporation (“Noor”) and True Leaf Medicine International Ltd. (“TL Medicine 
International”) whereby the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of TL 
Medicine International from Noor (the “Purchase Shares”) for the purchase price of $20,000, $19,900 of 
which was paid on signing of the Arrangement and the balance of $100 of which will be payable on closing 
of the Arrangement. The Company and TL Medicine International will then complete a share exchange on 
a 1:1 basis, such that all of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company shall be exchanged 
by their holders for the same number of common shares of TL Medicine International. TL Medicine 
International will then issue 355,000 of its common shares to Noor (the “Distribution Shares”) in exchange 
for 5,000 common shares of Noor. 
 

 The Distribution Shares will then be distributed to the shareholders of Noor on a pro-rated basis according 
to their shareholdings. The controlling shareholder of Noor has agreed to forego 155,000 Distribution 
Shares he would have received, which will be cancelled immediately following the distribution of the TL 
Medicine International common shares to Noor’s shareholders.  
 

 The Purchase Shares will then be cancelled. On closing of the Arrangement, TL Medicine International will 
become a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta, and the Company will become its wholly-
owned subsidiary. 
 
 



SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
The following table provides a brief summary of the Company’s financial operations for the six month 
period ended September 30, 2014.  For more detailed information, refer to the consolidated interim 
financial statements. 
 

     
        Six month 

           ended          
September   

30, 2014 
                    ($) 

 
 

Period Ended 
March 31, 

2014 
($) 

      
Net loss and comprehensive loss    (1,374,260) (13,596) 
Basic and diluted loss per share    (0.09) (0.04) 
Total assets     188,856  1,404 
Total long-term liabilities     76,329   -    
      

 
The Net loss and comprehensive loss of $1,374,260 included transaction costs of $891,936 associated 
with the acquisition of True Leaf Medicine Inc. and $482,324 of Operating Expenses. Included in 
Operating Expenses was $256,460 for accounting and legal fees and $81,915 for consulting fees. The 
balance largely consisted of administration costs. 
 
 
LIQUITITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
The Company has financed its operations to date through the issuance of common shares.  The Company 
continues to seek capital through various means including completion of private placement offerings. 
 
These condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
which assumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business. For the six month period ended September 30, 2014, the Company incurred a loss of 
$1,374,260 and has not earned any revenues since inception. The continued operations of the Company 
are dependent on its ability to generate future cash flows or obtain additional funding through private 
placement financings. Management is of the opinion that it does not have sufficient working capital to 
fund future operations and will require external financing. There is a risk that financing will not be 
available on a timely basis or on terms acceptable to the Company. These material uncertainties may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 
These condensed consolidated financial statements do not give effect to any adjustments which would 
be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern and, therefore, be required 
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in other than the normal course of business and at amounts 
different from those reflected in the accompanying financial statements 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 
During the six month period ending September 30, 2014, the Company paid or accrued a total of $12,000 
to its Chief Financial Officer for accounting services; and paid or accrued a total of $20,000 to directors 
and officers for consulting services. 



As at September 30, 2014, the Company is indebted to its Chief Executive Officer in the amount of $76,330 
for expenses paid on the Company’s behalf. The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing with no 
scheduled terms of repayment.  
 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
 
CAPITAL STOCK 
On incorporation, 10 common shares were issued at $0.01 per share. These shares were subsequently 
cancelled on issuance of 350,000 common shares to the founder of the Company at $0.01 per share for 
total consideration of $3,500 during the period ended March 31, 2014 

During the period ended September 30, 2014 the Company:  
 

1. Completed a private placement by issuing 2,950,000 common shares at a price of $0.01 per 
share for gross proceeds of $29,500; 

2. Completed a private placement by issuing 1,666,666 units at a price of $0.03 per unit for gross 
proceeds of $50,000. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one share purchase 
warrant. Each warrant is exercisable into an additional common share at $0.20 per share for 
a period of two years. No value was assigned to the warrants issued as part of the unit offering 
completed; 

3. Completed a private placement by issuing 4,200,000 units at a price of $0.05 per unit for gross 
proceeds of $210,000. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one share purchase 
warrant. Each warrant is exercisable into an additional common share at $0.20 per share for 
a period of two years. No value was assigned to the warrants issued as part of the unit offering 
completed; 

4. Completed a private placement by issuing 1,420,000 units at a price of $0.25 per unit for gross 
proceeds of $355,000. Each unit is comprised of one common share and one half of one share 
purchase warrant. Each warrant is exercisable into an additional common share at $0.40 per 
share for a period of two years. No value was assigned to the warrants issued as part of the 
unit offering completed; 

5. Issued 25,000,000 with a fair value of $750,000 in accordance with the Share Exchange 
Agreement; and 

6. Issued 550,000 common shares with a fair value of $16,500 as finder’s shares associated 

with the Share Exchange Agreement. 

The Company incurred $36,150 in cash share issue costs associated with the financings completed during 
the six month period ended September 30, 2014. In addition, the Company issued 142,000 broker’s 
warrants exercisable at $0.25 per warrant with a term of two years. The fair value of the warrants was 
estimated at $21,600 using the Black Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: term of 
2 years, expected volatility of 120%, risk free rate of 1.21% and expected dividends of $nil. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Share Transactions are summarized as following: 
 

Description of security Number authorized to be issued 

Number outstanding as 
at 

September 30, 2014 

Common Shares 36,136,666 36,136,666 

 
Number of Shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2014, is 36,136,666 common shares, resulting 
in Share Capital of $1,359,255 (net of share issue costs). No additional shares were issued in the period 
from September 30, 2014 to December 31, 2014 
 
 
Warrant Transactions are summarized as following: 

 

  
 
 

Number 
of Warrants 

 
Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

   

Balance, March 31, 2014  - $ - 
 Warrants and broker warrants issued  6,718,666  0.20 

   
Balance, September 30, 2014   6,718,666 $ 0.20 

 
 
COMMITMENTS, LONG-TERM LIABILITIES AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Company has the following commitments as of September 30, 2014: 
 

1. On May 20, 2014, the Company entered into a contractual agreement with its Chief Financial 
Officer whereby the Company will pay or accrue $2,000 per month for accounting and financial 
reporting services rendered. 

2. On March 27, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement to lease a property located in Lumby 
BC for purposes of its future medical marijuana production. The option agreement has an initial 
term of 12 months at a rate of $2,000 per month commencing April 1, 2014. The owner of the 
property has the right to cancel the option to lease within 30 days notice if no significant progress 
or feedback is shown in regards to the Company’s medical marijuana license application. 

3. On June 1, 2014, the Company entered into a consulting agreement with its Controller whereby 
the Company will pay or accrue a maximum of $6,500 per month for accounting and financial 
reporting services rendered. 

4. On June 20, 2014, the Company entered into a consulting agreement commencing April 1, 2014 

whereby the Company will pay or accrue $4,000 per month for public relations and communication 

strategy services rendered.  

5. On June 20, 2014, the Company entered into a one year consulting agreement commencing April 

1, 2014 whereby the Company will pay or accrue $5,000 per month for branding and marketing 

strategy services rendered. 

6. On June 20, 2014, the Company entered into a consulting agreement commencing February 28, 

2014 whereby the Company will pay or accrue a maximum of $4,000 per month for strategic 

marketing and special project services. 



 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
Financial instruments recorded at fair value on the statement of financial position are classified using a 
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair 
value hierarchy has the following levels: 

 

a) Level  1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
b) Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for assets or liabilities, either    

directly or indirectly; and  
c) Level 3 - Inputs for assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 

 
The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market inputs whenever such inputs exist. A 
financial instrument is classified to the lowest level of the hierarchy for which a significant input has been 
considered in measuring fair value. 
 
The carrying value of accounts payable and accrued liabilities and due to related party approximates their 
fair value because of the short-term nature of these instruments. 
 
As at September 30, 2014, the Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value are as follows: 

 
The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a risk management 
framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The following analysis provides information 
about the Company's risk exposure and concentration as of September 30, 2014: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that another entity will default on its contractual obligations which will result 
in a loss for the Company. At September 30, 2014, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk was 
the carrying value of cash. The Company limits its credit exposure on cash by holding its deposits mainly 
with Canadian chartered banks.  
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting future obligations with financial 
liabilities. The Company is exposed to this risk mainly in respect to finance future growth. 
 
 
Currency risk 
 
The Company has no currency risk as of September 30, 2014. 
 
 

 

Financial Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Cash 179,451 $     - $                       - $                   179.451 $          



Interest rate risk    
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a change 
in the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the Company 
manages exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. The Company is not at risk as of 
September 30, 2014. 
 
 
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
The Company’s capital includes share capital and the cumulative deficit.  The Company’s objectives when 
managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue 
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders.  
 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. The Company may issue new 
shares in order to meet its financial obligations. 
 
 
DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) are responsible for designing 
internal controls over financial reporting in order to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with IFRS.  The design of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was assessed 
as of the date of this Management Discussion and Analysis. 
 
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Information provided in this report, including the financial statements, is the responsibility of 
management.  In the preparation of these statements, estimates are sometimes necessary to make a 
determination of future value for certain assets or liabilities.  Management believes such estimates have 
been based on careful judgments and have been properly reflected in the accompanying financial 
statements.  Management maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurances that 
the Company’s assets are safeguarded and to facilitate the preparation of relevant and timely information. 
 
 
RISKS AND UNCERTANINTIES 
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or 
that the terms of such financing will be favorable.  If adequate financing is not available when required, 
the Company may be unable to continue operating.  The Company may seek such additional financing 
through debt or equity offerings, but there can be no assurance that such financing will be available on 
terms acceptable to the Company or at all.  Any equity offering, will result in dilution to the ownership 
interests of the Company’s shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of such interests. 
 
The Company has sufficient funds to cover anticipated administration expenses throughout the current 
fiscal year. The Company’s management is now focused on raising additional fund to through privat 
placement 
 
 



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
The Company's Board of Director's substantially follows the recommended corporate governance 
guidelines for public companies to ensure transparency and accountability to shareholders. The current 
Board is comprised of four individuals one of whom is an Executive Officer of the Company.  
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER  

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, True Leaf Medicine International 
Ltd. hereby applies for the listing of the above mentioned securities on the CSE.  The foregoing 
contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to True Leaf Medicine 
International Ltd.  It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to state a 
material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is 
made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.  

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia this 6th day of February, 2015. 
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